University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Biomedical Sciences ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Summer 7-2017

MK2 Promotes Colorectal Cancer Development, Invasion, and Growth Through MK2-Induced Cytokines

Anita Lynne Ray University of New Mexico

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds Part of the <u>Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Ray, Anita Lynne. "MK2 Promotes Colorectal Cancer Development, Invasion, and Growth Through MK2-Induced Cytokines." (2017). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds/169

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biomedical Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Anita L. Ray

Department of Molecular Genetics and Microbiology Department

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

Ellen J. Beswick, PhD, Chairperson

Bryce Chackerian, PhD

Michelle Ozbun, PhD

Xuexian Yang, PhD

MK2 PROMOTES COLORECTAL CANCER DEVELOPMENT, INVASION, AND GROWTH THROUGH MK2-INDUCED CYTOKINES

ΒY

ANITA L. RAY

B.S., Philosophy and Sociology, 2005 University of Oregon, Eugene, OR

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy Biomedical Sciences

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2017

Acknowledgements

This work would not have been possible without support of all kinds, from all directions. Always first and foremost, my advisor and mentor Dr. Ellen Beswick generously provided me with her time, advice and training throughout my time at UNM. I would not be the same scientist or person without her. I was fortunate to be part of your team.

My committee mentors, Dr. Xuexian Yang, Dr. Michelle Ozbun, and Dr. Bryce Chackerian, each took the time to guide my research and share their experience and wisdom. Their encouragement was a constant support. I owe a great deal to the enthusiastic support of Dr. Ronald Schultz of the University of Wisconsin-Madison. He supported my ambitions and scientific training at great inconvenience, and I am eternally grateful.

The faculty on North Campus are a tremendous resource. I can't list them all, but of particular note are the following. Dr. Bob Rubin shared his endless love of immunology with me, and then gave me the best gift of all: a chance to share it with others. Dr. Judy Cannon, Dr. Pamela Hall, and Dr. Eliseo Castillo were always available for advice and discussion, and never steered me wrong. All of my labmates, collaborators, and fellow grad students assisted with the emotional labor that accompanies every thesis. Thank you all for the celebrations and commiserations. Robert Nofchissey and Lea Weston made my first rotation into a real lab home. Sally Ann Garcia, Michelle Otero, and Martha Vigil provided the invisible work that is the foundation of every department and lab on campus.

iii

Support from the UNM Cancer Center, the National Institute of Health T32 Infectious Disease and Inflammation training grant, and the Ruby Travel Award made it possible to complete and share this work, and my many editors helped make it readable.

Many thanks to the University of New Mexico and the Biomedical Sciences Graduate Program for admitting me and fostering my education. The entire North Campus community has been wonderful. Thank you all for welcoming me as a fellow scientist.

MK2 Promotes Colorectal Cancer Development, Invasion, and

Growth through MK2-induced Cytokines

Anita L. Ray

B.S. Sociology and Philosophy, 2005

Ph.D. Biomedical Sciences, 2017

Abstract

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common malignancy in the United States for men and women. A major risk factor for CRC development and progression is inflammation, in particular the inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α . These proteins promote critical cancer functions, such as proliferation, invasion, survival, and migration. Control of inflammation is one potential area of therapeutic intervention for some cancers. Because signaling of these cytokines overlaps in many of the same pathways, targets upstream of protein production could prove an effective strategy to reduce inflammation. MAPK-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2) pathway controls production of these cytokines within the MAPK p38 pathway. By investigating the role of MK2 signaling in CRC, we demonstrate that MK2 is a critical protein in the initiation and progression of colitis-associated and spontaneous CRC. MK2^{-/-} mice have much lower expression of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α than wild-type mice, indicating that MK2 is the primary regulator of these cytokines in a colitis-associated model of CRC. MK2 blockade also decreased cytokine-producing macrophage populations, which are an important source of inflammatory cytokines that support tumor growth. MK2^{-/-} mice are completely protected against neoplasms. MK2 is thus a crucial component of CRC development that regulates intestinal macrophage populations. Addition of wild-type macrophages to mice in the CRC model increased cytokines in both wild-type and MK2 mice, and tumor burden in wild-type mice. Pharmacological inhibition of MK2 in wildtype mice after neoplasms developed caused complete regression in the majority of mice. MK2 is thus implicated as a critical signaling pathway throughout tumor initiation and development in a colitis-associated model of CRC. To address MK2's participation in an invasive model of CRC, a syngeneic cell line was used to develop tumors. Cells treated with MK2 inhibitor developed smaller tumors and produced approximately 80% less MK2-induced cytokines than controls. Treatment of cells with MK2-induced cytokines induced MK2 signaling, and restoring MK2-induced cytokines to tumor cells treated with MK2 inhibitor restored tumor burden and cytokines. These data support the existence of an inflammatory feedback cycle that drives CRC. MK2 inhibition is effective in multiple models, and offers a potential therapeutic target.

Contents

Acknowledgementsiii
Abstractv
List of Figuresxii
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Background1
Colorectal Cancer and Inflammation1
The Roles of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF- α in Cancer5
The p38 family as a target to control inflammation13
The MK2 signaling pathway15
Macrophages and Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment
Hypothesis
Specific Aims 21
Aim 1
Aim 2 22
Rationale 22
Chapter 2: Methods and Materials 24
Mice
AOM/DSS Model of CRC

	MK2 Inhibitors	. 27
	Tissue Dissociation	. 27
	Macrophage Culture and Treatment	. 28
	CT26 Culture and Tumors	. 28
	CT26 Tumor Cytokine Treatments	. 29
	Transfection of CT26 cell line	. 29
	Isolation of CT26 Tumor Cells	. 30
	Invasion Assay	. 30
	Cytokine Arrays	. 31
	Flow Cytometry	. 31
	Quantitative Real Time PCR	. 32
	Proliferation	. 33
	H&E Staining	. 33
	Western Blot	. 33
	Statistics	. 34
С	hapter 3: Blockade of MK2 is protective in inflammation-associated colorectal cance	er
d	evelopment	. 35
	Abstract	. 36
	Introduction	. 36

Results and Discussion	38
MK2 is essential for CAC development:	38
Cytokine response is substantially reduced in MK2 ^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS	
compared to wild type mice:	40
MK2 deficiency reduces colonic macrophage accumulation and cytokine production	on
in AOM/DSS treated mice:	42
Macrophages enhance pro-inflammatory cytokine production, but not neoplasm	
development in AOM/DSS treated mice:	44
Chapter 4: MK2 inhibition reduces tumor growth in a cytokine-dependent manner in	
two mouse models of colorectal cancer	51
Impact of Work	51
Abstract	51
Acknowledgements	52
Introduction	53
Results	57
MK2 inhibition reduces CRC tumor growth	57
MK2 inhibition reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with CRC	59
Cytokines produced downstream of MK2 induce proliferation and invasion of tur	۱or
cells	65

Addition of MK2-induced cytokines to tumors increases tumor size and cytokine
production
IL-1 β alone promotes production of MK2-induced cytokines and tumor growth 76
MK2 regulates MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1, pro-invasive macrophage-attracting
factors
Restoration of macrophage-attracting cytokines or macrophages induces tumor
growth and MK2-induced cytokine production81
Discussion
Chapter 5: Conclusions
Introduction
Aim 191
Aim 291
Results
Discussion and Future Directions95
Future Direction: Mechanism of IL-1 and IL-6 Induction by MK2
Therapeutic Pursuit: Dual Therapy and Chemoresistance
Limitations of this Study102
Crosstalk and overlap of MK2-induced cytokine signaling
Alternate MK2 pathways to affect cancer103

List of Abbreviations	105
References	107

List of Figures

Figure 1. p38 and MK2 activation and trafficking	16
Figure 2. Proposed effects of MK2 signaling during CRC	23
Figure 3. AOM/DSS model	26
Figure 4. MK2 ^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS do not develop neoplasms and have	
substantially decreased dysplasia production compared with WT mice.	39
Figure 5. MK2 ^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS have substantially decreased cytokine	
production compared with WT mice	41
Figure 6. Macrophages are decreased in MK2 ^{-/-} mice	43
Figure 7. Macrophages are a major source of MK2 downstream cytokines	45
Figure 8. WT mice treated with AOM/DSS have a significant increase in colon	
CD11b+Gr1+ myeloid cells compared to PBS treated mice.	46
Figure 9. WT BMM injection in MK2 ^{-/-} mice restores some cytokine production, but not	t
neoplasm development	48
Figure 10. MK2 inhibition reduces CT26 tumor size	58
Figure 11. MK2 inhibition reduces CT26 tumor size	60
Figure 12. MK2 inhibitors decrease neoplasm number in AOM/DSS model	61
Figure 13. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production of CT26 tumors	63
Figure 14. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production of cultured tumor cell	ls
	64
Figure 15. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production in AOM/DSS model	66
Figure 16. MK2-induced cytokines increase proliferation in CT26 cells	67

Figure 17. MK2 and MK2-induced cytokines increase invasion
Figure 18. MK2-induced cytokines rescue tumor burden in MK2-inhibited tumors 71
Figure 19. MK2-induced cytokines activate MK272
Figure 20. Organ cultures from cytokine-treated tumors have increased MK2-induced
cytokines
Figure 21. MK2-induced cytokines increase cytokine mRNA levels in pre-MK2i tumors 75
Figure 22. IL-1 β restores MK2-induced cytokines and tumor size to pre-MK2i tumors 77
Figure 23. MK2 regulates macrophage migration cytokines
Figure 24. MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2 promote MK2 activation and invasion
Figure 25. Macrophages and macrophage-attracting cytokines restore pre-MK2i tumor
burden
Figure 26. MK2 promotes colorectal cancer through cytokine production and activation
and recruitment of immune cells

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background

Colorectal Cancer and Inflammation

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common malignancies in both men and women (1). In the United States, an estimated 134,490 diagnoses and 49,190 deaths occurred in 2016 due to CRC (2). Most CRC patients are diagnosed between the ages of 55 and 84, and the majority of CRC are caught at an early stage (2). These diagnoses usually are a result of routine screening, including a variety of techniques including colonoscopies and fecal occult blood testing (3). Screening is relatively commonplace in the United States now and accounts for the increase in early detection of tumors and pre-cancerous polyps. The prognosis of patients who are diagnosed with early stage CRC is excellent, with an average 5-year survival of 90% (1). However, as CRC invades and spreads, survival probability decreases considerably. Once CRC reaches a local lymph node, the 5-year survival drops to 71%, then to 13% as the cancer metastasizes to distant sites (1). Over the last decade, the diagnosis of CRC has dropped by 2-3% per year (2). However, this rate of improvement is largely attributed to increased patient compliance with screening procedures, rather than decrease in risk factors. Screening procedures can lead to identification of pre-cancerous polyps; removal of these prevents their progression into CRC and reduces cancer diagnosis numbers. The improvements observed in diagnosis are expected to plateau as patient screening approaches 100%. A recent increase in young adult rates of CRC may indicate a potential

increase in CRC in younger populations (4). It isn't clear yet which factors have affected this increase, and whether it will continue in the future. Despite the improvements in recognition of early CRC, there are tumors with very poor prognoses. Survival rates for advanced CRC remain extremely low. Some cancers diagnosed early are extremely resistant to treatment, and progress despite current interventions. Strategies to target CRC are needed to improve outcomes in cases that are resistant to the current therapies.

The search for therapeutic targets is challenging, as colorectal tumors are genetically diverse. Even within a single tumor, different cancer cells can possess different mutations (5;6). A good target for therapeutic intervention is a pathway that is important throughout cancer development and progression, contributes to multiple pathological hallmarks, and is important in many tumors (7). Choosing a target that is important for cancers at many stages lessens the chance that a clinical intervention will miss a window of opportunity; this allows a particular therapy to be utilized at any point in diagnosis, and to be as universal as possible. Targets that participate in pathways that drive multiple characteristic cancer pathways, for example proliferation and invasion rather than just proliferation (7). CRC, like many cancers, has a diverse array of contributory factors, including a variety of genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors. This can make it difficult to pinpoint a single target.

One extremely promising target in CRC is inflammation. Inflammation is best understood as a collection of responses to perceived harm. The classic gross signs of inflammation are redness, swelling, heat, pain, and loss of function. These symptoms are a result of activated pathways that increase blood flow and vessel permeability to encourage immune cell infiltration into the tissue. The harm can take the form of damaged cells (injury) or recognition of pathogens (infection). Injury and infection may also be only perceived, as in the case of auto-immune responses, where the immune system is activated in response to the host. Cells that detect damage or infection produce cytokines. Cytokines are small signaling molecules that can act in autocrine, paracrine, or endocrine signaling, but are often secreted and bind to cytokine receptors on the outside of nearby cells. Inflammatory signaling activates many pathways in an attempt to activate immune cells, resolve infection, and initiate healing. Inflammation is part of the initial immune response, but the inflammatory response affects nearly every cell. Pro-inflammatory cytokines often promote production of more pro-inflammatory cytokines, increasing the inflammatory response until resolution of the harm. These responses can in themselves be harmful, and are carefully regulated by antiinflammatory pathways. Unfortunately, many of the strategies to repair damage can also promote cancer growth.

Unresolved inflammation can, over time, cause significant pathology, including potential for initiation and progression of some cancers. For example, pro-inflammatory cytokines can activate proliferation of epithelial cells (8). In wound healing, this proliferation is necessary and beneficial, but in tumors, it can reinforce an already pathological proliferative response. Many other aspects of the inflammatory response – survival, angiogenesis, and migration in particular – are part of cancer pathology, and participate in making tumors thrive. In addition, some immune cells produce DNA-damaging

molecules, which can increase the risk of mutations, especially if coupled with prosurvival pathways in the damaged cells (9). Inflammation has been identified in many cancers as a contributory factor, but the association is especially strong in CRC. Inflammation is present throughout CRC, and positively correlated in advanced CRC. Inflammation naturally promotes many cell and systemic processes that have come to be associated with cancer: proliferation, survival, invasion, and angiogenesis are all classic characteristics of tumors and inflammatory environments. Unsurprisingly, Inflammation is associated with the onset and progression of many cancers (7). Pathways that drive inflammatory responses are a likely source of therapeutic targets in many diseases. CRC in particular has a rich literature connecting inflammation with tumor initiation, growth, spread, and mortality. Identification of common, overlapping aspects of inflammation is likely to provide a short list of targets for further investigation.

Inflammation in colitis-associated and spontaneous colorectal cancer

A healthy colon is not an inflammatory environment. The colon has extensive antiinflammatory activity in order to prevent inflammation, even in the case of microbial detection (10). There is increased microbial contact in the mucosa compared to other tissues. If the gut reacts with a strong pro-inflammatory response every time there is microbial contact, inflammation will be unceasing. There are multiple strategies employed to regulate homeostasis, including changes to resident macrophage behavior (discussed later in this chapter), anti-inflammatory cytokine signaling, and constant sampling of the gut lumen to promote tolerance (10;11). Chronic inflammation in the gut is present only in disease states, such as Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis (referred to collectively as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)). Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis are each estimated to affect approximately 200 of every 100,000 adults in the United States (12). IBD is characterized by chronic bouts of inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract (13). IBD is a risk factor for CRC development and poor outcome.

The chronic, cyclical inflammation causes not only severe pathology from IBD disease, but also vastly increases the likelihood that its sufferers will develop CRC. The longer someone has IBD, the higher the risk of CRC (14). Reported risk for Crohn's and ulcerative colitis vary by study, as well as by disease severity. Patients with extensive colitis are 14.8-fold more likely to develop CRC, while those with distal colitis have a relative risk of 2.8-fold above the population level (15). Even the lower risk categories of IBD carry a much higher chance of CRC development than most lifestyle-associated risks, including meat consumption and obesity (16;17). As both the severity and length of illness affect CRC risk, chronic inflammation is considered to be an extremely important factor of tumorigenesis. The risk of chronic inflammation does not stop at increased tumor initiation. Cancers that are colitis-associated are more severe and aggressive than those that develop without chronic inflammation (18). Tumor growth and metastasis increase in colitis-associated CRC (19). As a result, the 5-year survival rates of colitisassociated CRC are much lower than spontaneous (non-colitis-associated) cancers (20).

The Roles of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in Cancer

The originating causes of IBD are not well understood, but the inflammation is mediated by pro-inflammatory cytokines. Three of these have emerged as promoting inflammation in IBD and CRC. Interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) promote feedforward loops of inflammation (21). They are associated with colitis, cancer initiation, and cancer progression. Investigation of these associations in mouse models has indicated that they are important parts of disease pathology. These cytokines are implicated as key factors not only in IBD pathology, but also CRC, and indeed they are thought to be one of the reasons that the risk of CRC is greatly increased in IBD patients. Colitis-associated CRC has increased levels of these cytokines; however, these cytokines are elevated in both spontaneous and colitisassociated CRC, and drive pathology in both. IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α have been investigated as biomarkers of CRC (22). Because basal levels of cytokines can vary among individuals, a single measurement of serum cytokine levels are not enough to diagnose potential CRC. However, once diagnosed, cytokine levels may predict outcome. Higher levels of serum IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α are predictive of tumor progression and poor outcome (23). These cytokines regulate each other, reinforcing the tumorpromoting activities of each; however, each of these has been well-established to promote tumor formation and progression in their own right.

IL-1 in CRC

IL-1 α and IL-1 β are inflammatory cytokines that are similar enough in structure and function that they are considered to be two forms of IL-1 (24;25). Both IL-1 α and IL-1 β are produced as precursor proteins of approximately 31 kDa; post-translational cleavage turns these into their final form. Pro-IL-1 α and IL-1 α are both bioactive, however, while pro-IL-1 β is not active (25). Production and cleavage of IL-1 α is ubiquitous, and IL-1 α

commonly secreted from many cell types in response to stress and inflammatory signals. The cleavage of pro-IL-1 β occurs through the inflammasome. The inflammasome is cell-type restricted, so IL-1 β production is limited by the cell type and activation. Inflammasomes are generally restricted to professional immune cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and T cells (26;27). IL-1 α and IL-1 β bind to the same receptors. Like many cytokines, IL-1 receptors include a membrane bound receptor that promotes signaling in response to agonist binding (IL-1R1), and a soluble "decoy" receptor, which binds cytokines without any resultant signaling (IL-1R2) (28). Thus, inflammation can be tuned by increasing or decreasing production and secretion of IL-1, or by increasing or decreasing overall quantity and proportions of IL-1 receptors.

In a healthy colon, IL-1 β is barely detected, as the signals needed for inflammasome activity are present only upon inflammation (29). Pro-IL-1 α is produced even without inflammation, but is usually present only in cell-bound forms under normal conditions. Low levels of intracellular pro-IL-1 α are thought to promote homeostasis, and not to serve as pro-inflammatory alarm proteins unless cell damage occurs, releasing it extracellularly (30). During chronic inflammation, such as IBD, secreted IL-1 increases. An important source of secreted IL-1 is populations of inflammatory monocytes and macrophages. Monocytes recruited to the mucosa during inflammation differentiate into macrophages that actively produce IL-1 β (31). IL-1 can promote DNA damage through nitric oxide elevation (29;32). A higher rate of DNA damage increases the likelihood of accumulating key mutations required for cancer initiation. IL-1 α and IL-1 β are also produced in response to DNA damage (33;34), meaning that the early stages of

CRC initiation may drive cytokine production that will result in more damage. DNA damage should halt proliferation and initiate DNA repair pathways, or, failing successful repair, cell death. IL-1 can reduce the initiation of DNA repair pathways in mutated cells. In combination with TNF- α , treatment with IL-1 reduces the amount of DNA repair initiated in biliary cancer cells by 70% (35). IL-1 is thus supportive of the accumulation of mutations required for initiation of CRC.

IL-1 is an important driver of proliferation, metastasis, and survival. Once a tumor is initiated, IL-1 promotes rapid growth. IL-1 has long been known increase proliferation in a wide variety of cells, including epithelial cells. Activation of IL-1 signaling induces rapid division (36). IL-1 activates transcription factors, such as NF-KB, that promote proliferation (37). Recently, IL-1 has been shown to mediate production of miR-181, which has been implicated in rapid growth in CRC as well as glioblastoma and leukemias (38). The presence of IL-1 increases early angiogenesis, increasing the supplies of nutrients and supporting rapid proliferation (39;39). Angiogenesis also reduces the distance potentially metastatic cancer cells need to travel in order to enter the bloodstream. The formation of new vascularization in cancer can predict metastasis (40;41). Cancer cells still need to invade in order to reach blood vessels, but IL-1 also promotes invasion (42). Because IL-1 can promote both invasion of cancer cells and angiogenesis of the surrounding tissue, it should not be a surprise that IL-1 abets metastasis in animal models, and is associated with metastasis in humans (43-45). IL-1 not only promotes cancer progression, but also helps tumors survive. IL-1 mediates prostaglandin signaling, which helps create a niche for cancer stem cells (46). Stem cell

niches allow for a reservoir of cells to survive radiation or chemotherapy. IL-1 promotes stem cell characteristics in CRC, resulting in reinitiated tumors and reduced remission rates (42).

IL-6

IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by a wide variety of cells, including epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and immune cells like macrophages (47;48). IL-6 is produced in response to damage, infection, or inflammation, usually as a transient alarm signal until resolution of the problem (49). IL-6 mRNA is regulated through degradation and modification (50;51). The receptor for IL-6 can be either membrane bound or soluble. Membrane-bound IL-6R is widely expressed, and results in multifunctional effects of cells (52). Soluble IL-6R lacks the signaling domains present in the cytoplasmic region of membrane-bound receptors, but once it is bound to IL-6, the complex can activate signaling in cells through gp130 (53). Effects of IL-6 usually support classic inflammatory phenotypes, including proliferation, survival, and further inflammatory signaling.

IL-6 is critical in both chronic inflammation and cancer development. It is a contributing factor in multiple models of colitis (54-56). High levels of IL-6 decrease the junctions between epithelial cells, which increases permeability across the epithelial layer. With increased permeability, microbes are able to infiltrate into tissue. The immune response can cause further tissue damage. DNA damage, which can be brought on by inflammation, induces IL-6 production (57). IL-6 decreases apoptosis, encouraging survival of potentially cancerous cells, even as it promotes proliferation (58;59).

Increased chronic levels of IL-6 in serum is associated with a much higher risk of colorectal cancer in people (60).

As tumors form and grow, IL-6 continues to promote survival of cancerous epithelium through STAT3-mediated pathways, protecting against DNA damage from nitric oxide and radiation (38;61-63). The pro-survival effects of IL-6 support chemoresistance, and blockade of IL-6 has been shown to increase sensitivity of tumor cells to chemotherapy (64). Like IL-1, IL-6 is angiogenic, increasing the access to nutrients through increased blood flow (65). It also increases invasion, which in combination with the increased blood vessel formation, is thought to drive metastasis (66). In a metastatic model of CRC, IL-6 promotes spread and invasion throughout lung. Metastasis is driven by signaling through STAT3, a recognized promoter of cancer (67). As tumors progress and produce more inflammatory cytokines, infiltrating immune cells increase and also take on pro-inflammatory phenotypes. One of the cytokines made is IL-6. The IL-6 from immune cells has been linked to increases in metastasis and invasion in CRC (68). Because IL-6 promotes many facets of aggression in CRC, it is considered a potential therapeutic target. There are several strategies under development, including antibodies against IL-6 or IL-6R. IL-6 blockade has shown promise in other cancers, but clinical data on CRC has yet to be released (69).

$TNF-\alpha$

Like IL-6 and IL-1, TNF- α is a pleiotropic cytokine produced in response to damage, infection, or inflammation. TNF- α was originally identified as a cytokine that promoted necrosis in tumors. However, TNF- α activity does not always induce cell death; signaling

can also promote important cancer pathways, including survival, proliferation and invasion. TNF- α comes in two forms. Initially, it produced as a membrane-bound protein which is cleaved into its soluble form by ADAM17 (70). Blocking this cleavage has been shown to be protective in TNF-driven endotoxic shock and intestinal inflammation, suggesting that the soluble form may be the critical driver of the widespread inflammatory signaling that is associated with TNF (70;71). Soluble TNF- α promotes a systemic response to inflammatory events, acting as an alarm protein that activates responses on cells that express TNF receptors. There are two receptors for TNF- α , TNFR1 and TNFR2. TNFR1 has different distribution and function than TNFR2. TNFR1 is ubiquitous, and the cytosolic portion of the protein contains death-domain motifs. As the name implies, these death-domain motifs promote programmed cell death via activation of caspase-8, leading to apoptosis, and mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein (MLKL), which promotes necrosis (72-74). TNF- α signaling thus induces direct cell death via TNFR1, and in this capacity can help reduce tumor cell numbers. However, TNFR1 signaling also activates signaling pathways that promote cell survival and proliferation, including NF-κB, JNK, MAP/ERK, and p38 pathways (75). Each of these can promote cell survival, so there is a tension between the cell death and cell survival pathways initiated by TNF- α (76-78). Unlike TNFR1, TNFR2 does not contain deathdomain motifs, and is not ubiquitous. TNFR2 is expressed primarily on endothelial and immune cells, but can be induced in intestinal epithelium (79). Under most models, TNFR2 is thought to promote homeostasis and tissue regeneration (80). However, TNFR2 is upregulated in the epithelium of IBD patients and after inflammation in mouse

models, and promotes proliferation in an inflammation-associated CRC mouse model (79). Thus, both TNFR1 and TNFR2 signaling may participate in CRC pathology.

TNF- α is usually present in extremely small quantities in normal colons. TNFR2 signaling helps maintain populations of anti-inflammatory T cells, which maintain gut homeostasis (81). Sizeable amounts of TNF- α are produced only during injury or disease. TNFR1 signaling can cause death of intestinal epithelial cells, causing further wounding of the colon (82). TNF signaling encourages migration and proliferation of surviving cells (76;83). At the same time, TNF induces mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, which contributes to DNA damage (84;85). ROS damage can contribute to TNF-related cell death, but cells are protected by the inflammatory p38 pathway. This pathways is activated by TNF- α or other inflammatory cytokines. Active p38 signaling reduces apoptosis and increases survival of cells with DNA damage. p38 signaling reduces apoptosis and increases survival at the G2 DNA damage checkpoint (86). During initiation of CRC, TNF- α assists by promoting inflammation, proliferation and survival of DNA damaged cells.

As tumors are established and begin to grow, TNF- α continues to support proliferation of malignant cells. Proliferation pathways are multiple, including NF-kB driven proliferation, and supports proliferation of dysplasic populations (37;79). Critically, TNF- α supports chronic inflammation. IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α can all induce each other, but TNF- α drives IL-6 production in fibroblasts, which can help support tumor growth and progression (87). TNF signaling also induces MCP-1, a cytokine that attracts and activates inflammatory macrophage populations that contribute to cytokine production

within tumor tissue. As the tumor grows, TNF supports invasion through the basal lamina (88). Both TNF receptors support migration. The receptor that is the primary signal for migratory behavior depends on the concentration of TNF- α . Normal levels of TNF signaling promotes TNFR2-dependent migration, while higher levels of TNF signaling promotes TNFR1-dependent migration. These signals are mediated by NF κ B and SNAIL, which have been implicated in progression of many cancer types (83;89). In addition to cell transformation, TNF- α increases the production of proteolytic enzymes that promotes invasion and migration of melanoma *in vivo* (90). These enzymes help remove barriers to invasion, allowing migratory cells to invade more deeply through basal lamina, so TNF- α "clears the way" for metastasis and tumor progression. The importance of TNF- α is supported by a wealth of literature concerned with TNF- α 's contribution to cancer initiation, proliferation, invasion, and metastasis. In CRC, TNF- α is increased in advanced tumors and considered a potential intervention to reduce inflammation and improve outcomes (88).

The p38 family as a target to control inflammation

As IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α are extensively implicated in CRC initiation and progression, pathways that affect these cytokines have been considered for therapeutic intervention. One pathway that contributes to pro-inflammatory cytokine production occurs through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling (91). There are four members of the p38 family: p38 α , p38 β , p38 γ and p38 δ . p38 α , referred to as p38, promotes survival and inflammation, including IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α production. p38 is activated primarily through extracellular signaling pathways as a result of stress or inflammation. Stress can be induced by heat, osmotic changes, and UV light (92-94). A wide variety of inflammatory signals can activate p38; activating signals include IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α (95;96). Growth factors can also activate p38 signaling (97;98). In response to these signals, MKK3 and MKK6 dually-phosphorylate p38, causing activation that drives inflammation, survival, cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair, among other pathways (99-101).

p38 has been considered as a target for anti-inflammatory therapy for several diseases, primarily rheumatoid arthritis, but also chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, and cancer (102-106). In multiple animal cancer models, p38 inhibition reduced tumor growth (107). Multiple small molecule inhibitors have been developed, and some showed efficacy in Phase II clinical trials (108-110). However, in many cases, initial improvements reversed, or were not statistically significant (111). A reason for observed ineffectiveness of inhibitors may be due to the activation of compensatory pathways. One concern with using p38 as a therapeutic target is that it promotes anti-tumorigenic as well as tumor-promoting pathways. For example, p38 can suppress initiation of tumors, but once cancer is present, promotes the survival of cancer cells (112). Another problem has also been the high rate of side effects observed in p38 inhibitors. These issues have led to a re-examination of p38 as an appropriate pathway to target (108;113). One option that has been considered to reduce off-target effects and improve targeting of inflammatory pathways has been moving downstream in the p38 pathway. p38 has many substrates, but IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α production is not

evenly distributed among these; activation of a single kinase immediately downstream of p38 accounts for much of the inflammatory cytokine production (91).

The MK2 signaling pathway

Downstream of p38 is the mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2) is regulated by, and in turn regulates, p38 (Figure 1). MK2 lies directly downstream from p38. A nuclear localization signal lies at the C-terminus of the protein. While inactive, p38 and MK2 form a complex, and MK2 localizes the complex to the nucleus (114). This inactivated complex blocks binding grooves that would allow docking of substrates of either p38 or MK2 (115). In response to inflammatory or stress-related signals, p38 is phosphorylated to an active form, and then phosphorylates MK2 at up to 3 sites: Thr222, Ser272, and Thr334 (116). These phosphorylations change the conformation of the complex, allowing for binding to substrates for both p38 and MK2 (115;117). Phosphorylation of the Thr334 site creates a nuclear export signal, allowing for export of MK2 and complexed p38 into the cytoplasm (118). Both p38 and MK2 have substrates in the nucleus and the cytoplasm, so MK2's control of localization has an effect on which substrates are activated by p38 as well as MK2 (114).

MK2 regulates production of IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-6. Part of this production is regulated through increases in mRNA stabilization. The regulation of TNF- α is well characterized; IL-1 and IL-6 may be regulated through the same pathway, but the mechanisms have not been fully explored. For TNF- α , MK2 functions by promoting stabilization of mRNA



Figure 1. p38 and MK2 activation and trafficking. p38 and MK2 co-localize when inactive. Upon activation, p38 phosphorylates MK2, which exposes a nuclear export motif, allowing trafficking of p38 and MK2 into the cytoplasm. This process is important for cytokine production.

(194). TNF- α has AU-rich elements (ARE) in the 3'-UTR of its mRNA. Under normal conditions, tristetraprolin (TTP) binds to TNF's ARE, and recruits enzymes to form a complex that degrade mRNA (119;120). Active MK2 phosphorylates TTP in two places, which reduces its affinity for ARE (119). The reduced affinity allows for increased translation of TNF- α mRNA into protein. Simultaneously, MK2 increases stabilization by changing localization of protein human antigen R (HuR) and phosphorylation of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein AO (hnRNP AO), which bind ARE of TNF- α and block degradation (121;122). MK2 may affect IL-1 and IL-6 in similar ways. IL-6 is at least partially regulated by MK2 through its ARE, and IL-1 can be regulated by TTP (123;124). However, in macrophages, TNF- α and IL-6 are regulated independently, suggesting that there are additional mechanisms in MK2-driven cytokine production (125).

MK2 is an important regulator of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , and in turn they cross-regulate and can activate the p38 pathway, suggesting the existence of a positive feedback loop between MK2 and MK2-induced cytokines. p38 has been shown to be activated by IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (95;96;126). As p38, mediated by MK2, promotes production of more IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , any one of these cytokines has the potential to induce the others. Extensive cross-regulation between these cytokines is confirmed by experimental observations, where IL-6 can induce and be induced by either IL-1 or TNF- α (127;128). IL-1 signaling increases TNF- α production, and in turn, TNF- α regulates IL-1 α and IL-1 β (129-131). Thus, the activities of MK2-induced cytokines are difficult to separate from one another, as the presence of one strongly upregulates production of them all. The forward feedback loop in cytokine signaling and production means that factors that regulate all three together are especially attractive targets.

MK2 and Cancer

There has recently been an increasing interest in MK2 as a target for treating cancer. Our lab produced the first evidence for MK2's importance within CRC, but investigation into other cancers has increased, and evidence showing pro-cancer roles for MK2 in other tissues is emerging. In human non-small cell lung cancer, different studies have shown both increases and decreases in DNA copy number (132;133). Upregulation of MK2 protein has been observed in chemoresistant pancreatic cancer cells, suggesting that MK2 may support survival (134). MK2 mutations that increase the quantity of MK2 present in cells increase the risk of developing lung cancer, and worsens the prognosis once it develops (132;135). MK2 shows pro-survival activity in other tissue types, where MK2 promotes survival of tumor cells and relieves cell death stemming from oxidative stress (136;137). In response to DNA damage, which can be caused by any of the MK2induced cytokines, MK2 signaling results in higher levels of Khsrp, a protein which modulates cell cycle in response to DNA damage (138). In addition to cell survival, MK2 promotes immune infiltration; active MK2 is associated with increased ICAM-1 expression on endothelial cells, which is a critical aspect of immune cell extravasation from the bloodstream into tumor tissue (121). MK2-sourced inflammation has not been studied as much as survival, but MK2 has been shown to support IL-6 production in glioblastoma cells (139). MK2 knockout also reduces skin tumors in a mouse model where inflammation is a major component of tumor formation (140). Investigation into MK2-induced inflammation in cancer is limited, and this dissertation, with the experiments within, provides the first look at MK2's role in the development of CRC.

Macrophages and Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment

Infiltrating immune cells are an important source of inflammatory cytokines, including MK2-induced cytokines. Macrophages are cells that are some of the first responders to inflammatory events, and have been implicated in many cancers. Like other immune cells, macrophages have some pehnotypical plasticity, and their phenotype depends on the manner of activation, cytokine milieu, and other signals. Macrophages are implicated in pro-inflammatory behavior during IBD and CRC; their activity can alter the environment for potential or existent tumors.

Intestinal macrophages are frequently being replenished by monocytes as a normal part of intestinal homeostasis and during inflammation (141). Under homeostatic conditions, these monocytes give rise to intestinal macrophages that display an anti-inflammatory phenotype. They have reduced responsiveness to TLR stimulation and produce IL-10. During inflammation, monocytes differentiate into pro-inflammatory macrophages that are highly responsive to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (141-143). Intestinal macrophages are abundant in the colon and are vital to gut homeostasis (144). Gut macrophages shape helper and regulatory T cell responses. These tissue specific macrophages are imprinted with an anti-inflammatory gene signature, allowing them to produce robust amounts of IL-10, which assists in the maintenance of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (141). This anti-inflammatory population of macrophages is crucial to withstand acute insults in the gut that may otherwise initiate a lethal

inflammatory response (144;145). The resolution of inflammation is in part dependent on resident macrophages producing IL-10 to inhibit pro-inflammatory responses of other innate (including newly infiltrating macrophages) and adaptive immune cells via an IL-10-STAT3-SOCS3 axis (146). The IL-10 pathway is critical for gut homeostasis as IL-10-deficient mice or a deficiency in downstream signaling proteins (STAT3 and SOCS3) results in spontaneous gut inflammation (146).

During gut inflammation, monocytes traffic to the gut and differentiate into macrophages with a pro-inflammatory gene signature (IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α). Homing to the gut is dependent on MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2 secretion by the gut, primarily from epithelial cells (141;147). These three cytokines are upregulated in colitis-associated CRC models (148). Recently, MCP-1 was also shown to enhance LPS-induced IL-10 production from macrophages (149). MCP-1 appears to coordinate two vital events involved in intestinal macrophage generation: i) directing monocytes to gut and ii) imprinting newly differentiated macrophages into IL-10-producing cells. However, there is also evidence that indicates that MCP-1 can prevent a normal anti-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages (150). The circumstances that dictate MCP-1's influence on phenotype are not fully understood. However, MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 recruit macrophages, which participate in cytokine production, arteriogenesis, and inflammation (151-153).

Hypothesis

Inflammatory cytokines, in particular IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , participate in initiating and advancing CRC (24-88). These cytokines increase the production of each other and all contribute to proliferation, survival, and invasive pathways. Targeting any one of them without the others is likely to be inadequate to fully address inflammation-expedited CRC. Regulating MK2 activity offers the opportunity to modulate inflammation, which may relieve inflammation-related proliferation and survival of cancer cells. MK2 signaling results in increased production and secretion of these three cytokines within the p38 pathway, providing an opportunity to investigate MK2 as a potential therapeutic target. The hypothesis for this project is that **MK2 promotes production of the MK2-induced cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-\alpha in colorectal cancer, promoting CRC growth** (Figure 2).

Specific Aims

Aim 1.

To determine the extent that MK2 drives neoplasm development and cytokine production in a colitis-associated model of colorectal cancer. For this aim, we hypothesize that MK2^{-/-} mice will have decreased IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α and reduced neoplasm development. We further hypothesize that one important source of the MK2-induced cytokines is macrophage populations.

Aim 2.

To examine MK2's role in CRC growth as mediated by MK2-induced cytokines, and to evaluate the use of MK2 inhibitors as therapeutic intervention in CRC models. We hypothesize that interruption of MK2 activity in a tumor will result in decreased IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , and a lower tumor burden.

Rationale

MK2 signaling drives production of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-α, cytokines known to participate in CRC development and growth. One source of MK2-induced cytokines is tumor cells, but also other cells in the microenvironment, including infiltrating macrophages. Blockade of MK2 signaling, either during CRC initiation or growth, could reduce cytokine levels, reducing the speed of tumor growth and thus tumor burden at harvest. Restoration of MK2 signaling and MK2-induced cytokines, either through direct injection of cytokines or by restoring cytokine-producing cells to the area, would increase tumor burden in response.


Figure 2. Proposed effects of MK2 signaling during CRC.

Chapter 2: Methods and Materials

Mice

C57BI/6 mice from Harlan Laboratories and the MK2^{-/-tm1MgI} mouse strain (154) were bred under pathogen free conditions. Balb/c mice used were from Harlan. All mice used were 6-10 weeks old. Animal procedures were approved by the University of New Mexico IACUC.

AOM/DSS Model of CRC

To model colitis-associated cancer, the AOM/DSS model begins first by initiating key mutations in the gut. The model is initiated with a single injection of AOM, a DNA alkylating agent. Repeated injections of AOM result in development of non-inflammation-associated adenocarcinomas (with number varying between mouse strains), but a single injection without further treatment is not sufficient to cause neoplasm development (155-157). AOM induces mutations in human cells that are characteristically associated with CRC (158). β-catenin, K-ras, Cox-2, and prostaglandin receptors are all commonly mutated in both AOM-induced tumors and human CRC (158-161). AOM can also cause mutations in gut microflora, although the extent to which these changes persist or influence outcome in disease is unclear (162).

Once mutations are initiated in the gut, a model of colitis is implemented, using dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) to model pro-inflammatory flares. DSS is a sulfated polysaccharide. When dissolved in drinking water, it creates one of the most widely used murine models of colitis (163). Metabolism of DSS begins in the stomach, where it is depolymerized (164). In the cecum, anaerobic microflora desulfate and begin degradation of DSS as it passes on to the colon (165). Although the mechanism of DSS-caused colitis is not fully understood, once it reaches the colon, DSS forms complexes with existing fatty acids in the gut. These complexes disrupt intestinal epithelial cells (166). Addition of antibiotics alleviates DSS colitis in both mice and rats (165;167). Data suggests that after initial epithelial cell disruption, the intestinal flora further metabolizes DSS. Infiltration of gram-positive bacteria through the disrupted epithelium contributes to colitis by initiating inflammatory responses and infiltration of monocyte and macrophage populations (168). The AOM/DSS model has been found to be highly clinically relevant to human CRC (169). AOM/DSS tumors show many of the markers associated with colitis-associated cancer, including p53 loss, β -catenin alterations, and inflammation that follows human CRC patterns, both grossly and through cytokine increase (169). Timelines for the application of AOM and DSS vary between labs and strains of mice

(170). We followed a commonly used protocol in terms of DSS concentration and timing after AOM administration, summarized in Figure 3 (171;172). A single dose of AOM (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was injected intraperitoneally (IP) into 6-8 week old female mice at 12.5mg/kg. For this project, all AOM/DSS mice were C57Bl/6 background (either MK2^{+/+} or MK2^{-/-}). DSS (MP Biomedicals, MW 36,000-50,000) was added to drinking water at 2.5% on days 5 and 26 and at 2.0% at day 47. DSS treatments were



Figure 3. AOM/DSS model. This model of colitis-associated CRC begins with an intraperitoneal injection of mutagen azoxymethane (AOM), which causes critical mutations in the colon epithelium. Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) is added to the drinking water for 5 days, beginning day 5, 26, and 47. DSS treatment causes damage to the colon lining, modeling colitis. Neoplasms develop by harvest at day 80. For mice treated with MK2 inhibitor, treatment began after the third DSS treatment and was administered three times/week for three weeks. continued for five consecutive days with each treatment. On day 80, mice were sacrificed. Control mice received PBS IP and no DSS in water.

MK2 Inhibitors

Two specific MK2 inhibitors were used for *in vitro* and *in vivo* work. For mice that were treated with MK2 inhibitors under the AOM/DSS protocol, treatment began at day 52. Mice were injected IP three times per week, at 52 hour intervals, with 2 mg/kg of one of two specific MK2 inhibitors, either PF-364402 (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA) or MK2 inhibitor III (Calbiochem). Vehicle control mice received an injection with the same volume of 5% DMSO in calcium/magnesium-free DPBS. See Figure 3. For CT26 cell pretreatment with MK2 inhibitors, cells were incubated for 48 hours before injection with 50 µM of MK2 inhibitor PF-364402 (Calbiochem) or a like amount of sterile DMSO. For *in vitro* cultures using MK2 inhibitors, inhibitors were used at a concentration of 50 µM unless otherwise stated. Control wells received an equal amount of DMSO.

Tissue Dissociation

To prepare tissues for flow cytometry, mouse colon tissues were washed once in Ca/Mgfree HBSS, then immersed in Ca++/Mg++ HBSS with 25U/ml of collagenases I, II, and IV (Sigma Aldrich) and dispersed using the gentleMACs tissue dissociator per manufacturer's protocol (Miltenyi Biotech, Cologne, Germany). Tissues were placed on a rotator for a 20 minute incubation at 37° C, 5% CO2. After this incubation, tissues were once again dissociated, and 90U/ml DNAse I was added, and the tissue incubation step

repeated. Cells were passed through a 40 μ m filter. Single cells were washed twice in HBSS, counted, and collected for further use.

Macrophage Culture and Treatment

Bone marrow was collected from 6-8 week old female mice per standard protocol (173). In brief, femurs and tibia were harvested and cleaned of all muscle tissue. Bones were dipped in ethanol before being flushed with 3 mL of complete RPMI to remove the marrow. The marrow cells were stored in freeze media at -80°C until ready for use.

Macrophages were extracted and cultured as previously described (174). For macrophage-treated mice in Chapter 3, 1x10⁶ macrophages were injected IP on the first day of each DSS treatment (days 5, 26, 47) and on day 68. For macrophage-treated mice in Chapter 4, 1x10⁶ macrophages were injected intratumorally (IT) on day 1 and day 8. The macrophages injected on day 1 were first stained with 1 uM of CSFE (Thermo Fisher), and the day 8 macrophages were stained with e670 proliferation dye (eBioscience) per manufacturer's protocol.

CT26 Culture and Tumors

CT26 cell were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). Cells were cultured in complete RPMI, which contains 5% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, Grand Island, NY), and 1% L-glutamine (Gibco). CT26 cells were pretreated for 48 hours before injection with either 50uM of MK2 inhibitor PF-364402 or DMSO vehicle control. Cells were injected at 10^5 cells in 50µl of PBS into the flank of 6-8 week old Balb/c mice. Some mice injected with cells exposed to MK2 inhibitors were treated with recombinant IL-1 β , IL-6, and

TNF α to replenish cytokine production in amounts of 25 ng IL-1 β (Biolegend, San Diego, CA), 25 ng TNF α (Biolegend), and 1 µg IL-6 (Shenandoah, Warwick, PA). Treatments continued 3 times/week from day 2 until day 13. At Day 13 or Day 19, tumors were excised. Length, width, depth, and weight were recorded. Volume was calculated as the product of length, width, and depth.

CT26 Tumor Cytokine Treatments

For mice treated with MK2-induced cytokines, after CT26 injection (day 0), each tumor was injected with PBS control or MK2-induced recombinant murine cytokines (25 ng IL-1 β , 25 ng TNF α , and 1 ug IL-6). Treatments continued 3 times/week from day 2 until harvest at day 13. IL-1 β groups received 25 ng of IL-1 β per injection. Recombinant cytokines were obtained from Shenandoah (IL-6) or Biolegend (TNF α , IL-1 β).

Mice treated with recombinant murine MIP-1 α , MIP2, and MCP-1 followed the same schedule as the MK2-induced cytokine mice. Each tumor received 50 ng of MIP-1 α , 700 ng of MIP-2, and 800 ng of MCP-1. These quantities were based on calculations made by looking at the cytokines produced by a control tumor on d19 over the course of 16 hours via Luminex bead-based array.

Transfection of CT26 cell line

CT26 cells were transfected with copGFP plasmid (sc-108083) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX) per manufacturer's directions. Success of transfection was tested by looking at GFP+ cells by flow cytometry via a Guava easyCyte 8HT flow

cytometer. Selection was maintained in cell culture by maintaining on 10 ug/ml puromycin (Santa Cruz).

Isolation of CT26 Tumor Cells

Tumor tissue was dissociated in HBSS with Ca++/Mg++, 25U/ml of collagenase I, II, and IV (Sigma) with a GentleMACS dissociator (Miltenyi Biotech, Cologne, Germany), then incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 20 min while rotating. 90U/ml DNAse I (Sigma Aldrich) was added and tissues were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 20 min while rotating for another 20 min. Cells were filtered through a 40uM filter, washed, and resuspended in complete RPMI.

Invasion Assay

Tumor cells isolated from CT26 tumors were plated in 96-well plates coated overnight with 10 ug/ml of human fibronectin (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). Excess fibronectin was removed, and 10⁵ dissociated tumor cells were added to each well. After 30 minutes, the wells were washed once with sterile DPBS and complete RPMI was added.

Upon confluency, cells were incubated in serum-free RPMI for 24 hrs, then scratched with a 10ul pipette tip. 50 ul of matrigel (Corning, Corning, NY) was added to each scratch, and matrigel was allowed to set for 5 minutes. Wells were incubated were vehicle control, MK2 inhibitor (50 uM PF-364402), 10 ng/ml of IL-1 β (Biolegend), TNF α (Biolegend), and/or IL-6 (Shenandoah). Images were taken at initial scratch and at 12

hrs. The mean scratch width (5 measurements per well) at 12 hrs was compared to the means scratch width at 0 hrs to calculate the percent closure of the scratch.

Cytokine Arrays

Tumor tissues were rinsed in sterile PBS and weighed. 8 mg (\pm 0.5 mg) of tissues were incubated in complete RPMI with antibiotics for 12 hours (for experiments in Chapter 3) or 16 hours (for experiments in Chapter 4). Supernatants were stored at -80, and then analyzed for cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2), by multiplex bead array (Millipore, Billerica, MA) according to manufacturer's instructions. All samples were analyzed on a Luminex 200 machine (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA).

Flow Cytometry

Tissues were dissociated per above. For experiments in Chapter 3, cell suspensions were incubated overnight in media before staining. Flow cytometry was carried out according to standard Biolegend protocols (Biolegend, San Diego, CA). Macrophages were stained with anti-F4/80-PE or FITC (Biolegend, BM8), anti-CD11b-APC or PE (eBioscience M1/70), anti-IL-1 α -PE (eBioscience, ALF-161), anti-IL-1 β -APC (eBioscience NJTEN3), anti-IL6 (eBioscience MP5-20F3), anti-TNF- α -PEcy5 (MP6-XT22 eBioscience), anti-IL-10-APC (eBioscience JES5-16E3), anti-Arg1-FITC (R&D Systems IC5868F) or isotype controls. All samples were run on a Guava easyCyte 8HT flow cytometer (Millipore). Cells were gated on the forward and side scatter plot to remove debris. Macrophage plots were gated next on the F4/80⁺CD11b⁺ population and examined for cytokines. Macrophage numbers per colon were calculated by the percent of gated cells in relation to the

overall number of cells per mouse colon. Viability staining for cell lines was performed via FACS staining with e660 viability dye (eBioscience) per standard surface staining protocol (Biolegend, San Diego, CA).

Quantitative Real Time PCR

RNA was isolated using Ribozol (Amresco, Solon, OH) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentrations were measured using a Nanodrop (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). The RT reaction mixture includes random 2.5 µM hexamers, 500 μ M dNTPs, 0.4 U/ μ L of the RNase inhibitors, 5.5 mM MgCl₂, MultiScribe Reverse Transcriptase (3.125 U/ μ L) and its buffer, and 1 μ g of cellular RNA. The RT step was performed according to the following protocol: 10 min at 25°C, 60 min at 37°C, 5 min at 95°C. Obtained cDNA samples were stored at -80°C and used for the PCR reaction step. The PCR reaction mix was prepared using the Assays-on-Demand[™] gene expression assay mix (Applied Biosystems) for mouse β -actin, IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (a 20X mix of unlabeled PCR primers and TaqMan[®] MGB probe, FAM dye-labeled) and 2 µL of cDNA were added to the PCR reaction mix. The reaction was carried out according to the following protocol: 2 min at 50°C, 10 min at 95°C (1 cycle), and 15 sec at 95°C and one min at 60°C (45 cycles) on Applied Biosystem's StepOnePlus instrument. The endpoint used in real-time PCR quantification, CT, was defined as the PCR cycle number that crossed the signal threshold. Quantification of cytokine gene expression was performed using the comparative CT method (Sequence Detector User Bulletin 2; Applied Biosystems) and reported as the fold difference relative to the mouse housekeeping gene, β -actin mRNA.

Proliferation

 10^3 CT26 cells were seeded in a 96 well plate in complete RPMI. After 4 hours, wells were washed and incubated in serum-free RPMI containing 10 ng/ml of recombinant mouse IL-1 β (Shenandoah), IL-6 (Biolegend), TNF- α (Shenandoah), or all three cytokines. Controls received an equal quantity of sterile PBS. For time course experiments, plates were imaged every 2 hours on an IncuCyte Zoom (Essen Bioscience, Ann Arbor, MI) and analyzed by IncuCyte Zoom 2016A software by standard manufacturer's program for analyzing confluence. For non-timecourse experiments, cells were plated as above, grown for 96 hours, and they were counted via hemocytometer. Samples were diluted in 50% Trypan blue (Sigma) and dead cells were excluded.

H&E Staining

Tumor samples were fixed in zinc formalin for 24 hours before being transferred to 50% ethanol, 50% DI water for longer storage. Samples were then paraffin embedded, sectioned, and stained by the Human Tissue Repository at UNM.

Western Blot

Cell line and tumor samples were lysed in RIPA buffer (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Protein was quantified using BCA protein assay compatible with reducing agents (Thermo Scientific). 20 µg protein for cell lines and 50 µg for tumors was loaded into each lane of a 10% bis-acrylamide gel. The gel was electrophoresed at 120v for 5 minutes, then voltage lowered to 60-80v. Proteins were transferred using an iBlot2 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 45 min at 100V. The membrane was blocked overnight with

5% dry non-fat milk in TBS with 0.1% Tween-20. pMK2 antibody (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA) was added at 1:1000 for 2 hours at room temperature. Secondary antibody donkey anti-mouse (Santa Cruz) was added at 1:10000 for one hour in blocking buffer. Samples were visualized using SuperSignal West Femto substrate.

Statistics

All results are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean. Differences between means were evaluated by student's t-test or one-way ANOVA in GraphPad Prism 5. *p* values of 0.05 or less were considered statistically significant. Power analysis was performed to determine the sample size of the experimental and control groups to ensure that any effect, if one is in fact present, is statistically detectable.

Chapter 3: Blockade of MK2 is protective in inflammation-

associated colorectal cancer development

This chapter is modified from:

Blockade of MK2 is protective in inflammation-associated colorectal cancer development.

Ray AL¹, Castillo EF¹, Morris KT², Nofchissey RA¹, Weston LL¹, Samedi VG³, Hanson JA³, Gaestel M⁴, Pinchuk IV⁵, Beswick EJ¹.

¹Department of Molecular Genetics and Microbiology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.

²Department of Surgery, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.

³Department of Pathology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.

⁴Department of Biochemistry, Hannover Medical University, Hannover, Germany.

⁵Department of Internal Medicine, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX.

Published in the International Journal of Cancer, 2016 Feb 1:138(3): 770-5.

Abstract

Chronic inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal cancer. The MAPK-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2) pathway controls multiple cellular processes including p38-dependent inflammation. This is the first study to investigate the role of MK2 in development of colitis-associated colon cancer (CAC) using the AOM/DSS model. Herein, we demonstrate that MK2^{-/-} mice are highly resistant to neoplasm development when exposed to AOM/DSS, while wild type C57BL/6 mice develop multiple neoplasms with the same treatment. MK2-specific cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α were substantially decreased in AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-} mouse colon tissues compared to wild type mice which coincided with a marked decrease in macrophage influx. Restoring MK2- competent macrophages by injecting wild type (WT) bone marrow derived macrophages into MK2^{-/-} mice led to partial restoration of inflammatory cytokine production with AOM/DSS treatment; however, was not sufficient to induce neoplasm development. Our results indicate that MK2 functions as an inflammatory regulator to promote colonic neoplasm development and may be a potential target for CAC.

Introduction

Colorectal cancer will kill approximately 50,000 people every year in the US.(175) Patients with chronic colonic inflammation develop colorectal cancer (CRC) at a rate 2-6 times above normal and CAC is more difficult to treat than other CRCs (176). Although the mechanisms of inflammation promoting cancer development are not fully understood, tissue damage and pro-survival mechanisms likely contribute to the growth of colon cancer. The protein kinase p38^{MAPK} pathway has known pathogenic

contributions to inflammatory bowel disease (175(177). However, p38 MAPK inhibition has resulted in poor outcomes; side effects of treatment can be severe and affect multiple organ systems, such as infection, dangerous increases in liver enzymes, and skin disorders, in humans (102;111;178;179). In animal models utilizing p38 inhibitors, gastrointestinal toxicity, destruction of lymphoid tissues, and promotion of cardiac plaques have been observed (180;181).

MK2 is downstream of p38 ^{MAPK} and stabilizes the mRNAs of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α . Due to its stringent regulation of rather few genes compared to p38, it may be a better target. In LPS induction of inflammation in MK2^{-/-} mice, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α were greatly reduced (154), indicating a major role of this pathway in production of these cytokines. Additionally, these cytokines have been implicated in CAC development (182;183). This is likely due to recruitment of immune cells to the site of inflammation and promotion of cell survival and proliferation.(184) MK2 is constitutively expressed at steady-state in multiple cell-types, both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic origin. Recent evidence shows that intestinal macrophages maintain intestinal homeostasis, but are also major contributors to chronic inflammatory conditions in the colon. (185) Given this plasticity in function, it is crucial to understand the role of macrophages in CAC development. This functional plasticity may depend on MK2 activation and subsequent conditioning of the microenvironment to an inflammatory state. Pro-survival and pro-growth signals driven by inflammatory cytokine production from macrophages may be at the apex of inflammation and cancer development.

In this study, we set out to uncover the role of MK2 in CRC development as well as understand MK2 signaling in macrophages. Herein, we demonstrate MK2^{-/-} mice were resistant to neoplasm development in the AOM/DSS CAC model. The complete loss of MK2 led to stunted production of cytokines and reduced macrophage infiltration into the colon. Transfer of MK2-proficient macrophages into MK2^{-/-} mice ignited an inflammatory response, but was insufficient to restore tumorigenesis. Taken together, these results highlight the importance of MK2 in the inflammatory response and CAC development and highlight the importance of MK2 in multiple cell types is required to establish tumor development.

Results and Discussion

MK2 is essential for CAC development:

Activation of MK2 leads to IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-α production. These cytokines are known to induce multiple cell survival and invasion pathways.(182-184) However, a specific role in cancer development has only been examined for MK2 in one study of skin cancer (186). Thus, we set out to investigate pro-tumorigenic effects of MK2 in CAC. WT and MK2^{-/-} mice were subjected to AOM and chronic treatments of DSS through three treatments and examined at day 80 as the commonly examined endpoint for this model (157). Remarkably, MK2^{-/-} mice did not develop neoplasms (Figure 4A), while wild type mice had 100% incidence. Also, upon H&E staining, AOM/DSS treated WT mice developed well defined neoplasms with dysplastic proliferation of the colonic epithelium (Figure 4B) and with DSS treatment had mild architectural disarray consistent with chronic injury (Figure 4C). In contrast, MK2^{-/-} mice treated with



Figure 4. MK2^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS do not develop neoplasms and have substantially decreased dysplasia production compared with WT mice. AOM/DSS treated mice develop (a) multiple neoplasms, while MK2^{-/-} mice do not. H&E staining indicates that (b) AOM/DSS treated WT mice developed defined neoplasms with dysplastic proliferation of the colonic epithelium compared with (c) architectural disarray of mucosal tissue consistent with chronic injury from multiple DSS treatments, while (d) AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-} mice displayed no visible signs of dysplasia or mucosal damage. N = 7 for WT mice and 8 for MK2^{-/-} mice in duplicate experiments. AOM/DSS displayed no signs of dysplasia (Figure 4D). The complete absence of neoplasms in MK2-deficient mice after AOM and DSS-induced colitis indicate that MK2 is an important player in neoplasm development in CAC although the possibility exists that development could be delayed.

Cytokine response is substantially reduced in MK2^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS compared to wild type mice:

IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α are major factors in the establishment of the IBD promoting chronic inflammation, and are also known as tumor promoting cytokines in CRC (187;188). Interestingly, MK2^{-/-} mice display decreased IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α production in multiple models (189-191). Since these cytokines may be the major inflammatory mediators driving inflammation and neoplasm development, we hypothesized the lack of neoplasms in MK2^{-/-} mice could be the result of a dampened inflammatory response. Conditioned media collected from AOM/DSS treated wild type mouse colon organ cultures in a previously described tissue explant approach used by multiple groups (192;193) displayed a marked increase in IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α compared to control mice receiving one PBS injection and regular water (Figure 5A-D). To further support the induction of MK2-induced cytokines in mouse colons, we found a similar pattern of increase in IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α gene expression in WT AOM/DSS treated mice, but minimal induction in MK2^{-/-} mice (Figure 5E). These high levels (compared to PBS groups) of cytokines indicate a chronic inflammatory response in the colon due to multiple DSS treatments. Conversely, supernatant from colon tissues of MK2^{-/-} mice treated with AOM/DSS displayed a significant reduction in



Figure 5. MK2^{-/-} mice exposed to AOM/DSS have substantially decreased cytokine production compared with WT mice. AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-}mice have significantly decreased (a) IL-1 α , (b) IL-1 β , (c) IL-6 and (d) TNF- α in organ culture supernatants compared to WT mice by multiplex bead array. N = 7 for WT mice and 8 for MK2^{-/-} mice in duplicate experiments. (e) WT mice treated with AOM/DSS have an increase in colonic gene expression of MK2 downstream cytokines compared to control mice, but MK2^{-/-} mice have markedly less induction of cytokine gene expression. N = 6. these cytokines compared to WT AOM/DSS treated mice. These findings emphasize the importance of MK2 in regulating the production of inflammatory mediators that promote colon neoplasm development.

MK2 deficiency reduces colonic macrophage accumulation and cytokine production in AOM/DSS treated mice:

The MK2 downstream cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α are produced by multiple cell types, including macrophages, in the AOM/DSS model (174). To examine the impact of macrophages in MK2-dependent inflammation and neoplasm development, we first examined factors related to macrophage accumulation and activation in mouse colon supernatants. GM-CSF and MCP-1 were substantially decreased in MK2^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice administered AOM/DSS (Figure 6A and B). The expression of these factors is important for macrophage development and accumulation. (194;195) Due to the role of GM-CSF, MCP-1, IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α in macrophage accumulation and activation, we assessed the number of colonic macrophages by staining single cell colon suspensions for F4/80 and CD11b. The number of F4/80⁺ CD11b⁺ cells found in the colon of AOM/DSS treated WT mice at day 80 was drastically increased in AOM/DSS treated WT mice compared to control groups, but markedly decreased in MK2^{-/-} mice (Figure 6C). To further understand the role of MK2 in macrophages localized in the colon of mice that have developed neoplasms, intracellular cytokines were examined after isolation and ex vivo stimulation. A substantial number of macrophages isolated from colon preps of AOM/DSS treated WT mice expressed IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α





compared to macrophages isolated from AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-} mice (Figure 7A -D). The considerable decrease in colonic macrophages during CAC development in MK2^{-/-} mice indicate the proper cells are not present in the colon to mount an inflammatory response to contribute to neoplasm development. We also found an increase in IL-10expressing macrophages in WT AOM/DSS treated mice (Figure 7E) and arginase-1 expressing macrophages (Figure 7F), both of which were significantly decreased in MK2⁻ ^{/-} mice. These data suggest that MK2^{-/-} mice not only show a decrease in macrophages expressing MK2 downstream mediators, but are also decreased in macrophages producing M2-like pro-tumorigenic factors. In addition to macrophages, there are also other myeloid-derived cells that are attracted to the mouse colon during inflammation. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) have been found to contribute to colitis and colitis-associated tumor development and growth. Suppressing trafficking to the colon, or knocking out MDSC-associated activity reduces inflammation and tumor burden in the AOM/DSS model (196;197). Thus, we also stained for MDSC (CD11b⁺Gr1⁺ cells). These cells were increased in WT mice treated with AOM/DSS compared to PBS and present at higher levels in WT than MK2^{-/-} mice, but the difference did not achieve significance (Figure 8).

Macrophages enhance pro-inflammatory cytokine production, but not neoplasm development in AOM/DSS treated mice:

Macrophages harbor both anti- and pro-tumorigenic features that can hinder or enhance tumor formation. Our data above clearly indicate that macrophages



Figure 7. Macrophages are a major source of MK2 downstream cytokines. F4/80⁺CD11b⁺ cells in MK2^{-/-} mice displayed significantly less intracellular staining of (a) IL-1 α , (b) IL-1 β , (c) IL-6, (d) TNF- α , (e) IL-10, and (f) ARG1 compared with WT mice. N=7 for WT mice and 8 for MK2^{-/-} in duplicate experiments.



Figure 8. WT mice treated with AOM/DSS have a significant increase in colon CD11b+Gr1+ myeloid cells compared to PBS treated mice. These cells are decreased in MK2^{-/-} mice compared to WT, but the decrease does not reach significance. N=6. accumulate and are producing MK2 downstream pro-inflammatory cytokines in tumor burden colons (Figure 5). To assess the contribution of macrophage to CAC, bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMM) from WT mice were adoptively transferred into WT and MK2^{-/-} AOM/DSS treated mice at days 5, 26, 47, and 68. Interestingly, AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-} mice receiving WT BMM displayed no neoplasms, while an increased number of neoplasms were found in WT mice injected with WT BMM (Figure 9A). WT mice receiving WT BMM had a mean of 6 neoplasms per mouse, while the WT mice had a mean of 3 neoplasms per mouse, which is a significant increase in number (p=0.006). These data indicate that macrophages promote neoplasm development in this system.

Furthermore, addition of WT macrophages restored a proportion of the MK2 downstream cytokine production in MK2^{-/-} mouse colons and also enhanced the levels in WT mice receiving cells (Figure 9B-E). We further found an increase in the macrophage related cytokines GM-CSF and MCP-1 (Figure 9F and G). When comparing AOM/DSS treated MK2^{-/-} mice supplemented with WT macrophages to AOM/DSS treated WT mice in Figures 5, 6, 7, and 9, IL-6, GM-CSF, and MCP-1 levels were drastically increased to similar levels, indicating the role of MK2 in promoting these responses. These data suggest that the protocol of BMM transfer into MK2^{-/-} mice was adequate to mount a similar level of these cytokines as in wild type mice. IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and TNF- α were also increased upon WT BMM transfer into MK2^{-/-} mice, but not to the same levels as WT mice suggesting that MK2 signaling in other cells may be responsible for production of these cytokines in WT mice. Introduction of WT macrophages



Figure 9. WT BMM injection in MK2^{-/-} mice restores some cytokine production, but not neoplasm development. BMM injections into WT and MK2^{-/-} mice led to (a) increased neoplasm development for WT mice, but not MK2^{-/-} with AOM/DSS treatments. In organ culture, (b) IL-1 α , (c) IL-1 β , (d) IL-6, (e) TNF- α , (f) GM-CSF and (g) MCP-1 production were found at higher levels in WT mice, but were also increased in MK2^{-/-} mice supplemented with WT macrophages. N=6 for BMM supplementation experiments in duplicate experiments. into MK2^{-/-} mice was not sufficient to restore neoplasm development indicating that MK2 is critical in other cells, perhaps epithelial cells, for neoplasm development. Furthermore, the significantly increased neoplasm development upon addition of extra macrophages into WT mice highlights the importance of MK2 signaling in macrophages in promoting tumor growth. Nevertheless, in our model, we have eliminated macrophages as being the primary determinant driving CAC development.

Our data highlight the importance of MK2 in CAC development and provide a target to hinder the inflammatory response. We demonstrate that restored MK2 signaling in a single cell type (macrophages) can restore the inflammatory response in MK2^{-/-} mice and hence, this further substantiates the robustness of MK2 signaling pathway as a highly inflammatory event. Given the insurgence of reports demonstrating macrophages promote inflammation and cancer, we set out to the test hypothesis that MK2 in macrophages drives CAC development. The transfer of these cells was sufficient to restore the inflammatory response as determined by cytokine output (Figure 9B-G). Nonetheless, restoration of MK2 in these cells (as well as the pro-inflammatory cytokines detected) was not sufficient to re-establish tumor development in MK2^{-/-} mice. This suggests a more complex role for MK2 in CAC development where restoration of the inflammatory cytokines is only one part of the equation. Upon supplementation of macrophages to WT mice, neoplasm number was significantly increased (Figure 9A). These data indicate that MK2-induced cytokines from macrophages promote increased tumor growth, but MK2 signaling is also needed in other cells, such as epithelial cells for

tumor development. Thus, these studies raise the possibility that MK2 is a potential therapeutic target for patients with colitis or CAC that could prove beneficial.

Acknowledgements:

This work was supported by the American Cancer Society (RSG-10-159-01-LIB), NIH 8UL1TR000041, the University of New Mexico Clinical and Translational Science Center, and NIH P30CA118100, UNM Cancer Center. A.L. Ray is a recipient of the T32AI007538-17-21 Predoctoral Fellowship.

The authors have no financial conflicts to disclose.

Chapter 4: MK2 inhibition reduces tumor growth in a cytokinedependent manner in two mouse models of colorectal cancer. *Portions of this chapter are in preparation for submission to International Journal of Cancer for publication.*

Impact of Work

This is to evaluate MK2 inhibition effects on inflammation and tumor burden within two mouse models of colorectal cancer (CRC). MK2 is identified as an important signaling pathway during CRC progression in both spontaneous and colitis-associated models. These data demonstrate that MK2 is essential for inducing pro-tumorigenic cytokines. Inhibition of MK2 reduced tumor burden and cytokine production. Restoring MK2 downstream cytokines to the tumor restored tumor growth. Therapeutic intervention relieves inflammation, reduces tumor growth and invasion in a syngeneic invasive model of CRC, and causes tumor regression in a colitis-associated model of CRC.

Abstract

Colorectal cancer (CRC) development and progression is associated with chronic inflammation. MAPK-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2) drives inflammatory signaling in response to stress and inflammation signals. MK2 signaling promotes production of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α . These cytokines have been implicated in tumor growth and invasion. In Chapter 3, we found that MK2 is essential for colitis-

associated CRC development in a mouse model, and is a primary regulator of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory macrophage populations in the gut. We investigate whether MK2 inhibition can improve outcome in two mouse models of CRC. In the AOM/DSS model of colitis-associated CRC, MK2 inhibitor treatment eliminated neoplasms in the majority of the mice. In a model using syngeneic murine CRC cell line CT26, treatment with MK2 inhibitors dramatically reduced tumor volume. Tumor cells treated with MK2 inhibitors produced an average of 80% less IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α . They also showed slower invasion. Addition of MK2-induced cytokines to CT26 cells increased proliferation, and activated MK2, suggesting a positive feedback loop between MK2 and its associated inflammatory cytokines. Mice treated intratumorally with murine recombinant IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α developed tumor burdens equivalent to control mice. These results demonstrate the importance of MK2 in multiple models of CRC through a cytokine-driven mechanism and suggest MK2 has potential as a target for therapeutic intervention.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the by NIH R01CA207051-01, NIH 8UL1TR000041, the University of New Mexico Clinical and Translational Science Center, and NIH P30CA118100, UNM Cancer Center. A.L. Ray is a recipient of the T32AI007538-17-21 Predoctoral Fellowship.

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is one of the most common malignancies in the US, with over 135,000 new diagnoses and 50,000 deaths from CRC expected (1). However, as CRC progresses, the prognosis becomes worse; tumors that have spread to distant sites have a 5-year survival rate of only 13.5% (2). The number of CRC cases in the United States is expected to rise in the next decade, due to an increase of people aged 55-84 years old, which comprises 67% of CRC diagnoses (2). New treatments and approaches to therapy are needed, particularly to address advanced CRC that is diagnosed at later stages or has proven resistant to surgical and chemical interventions.

Chronic inflammation is a major risk factor for cancer development and progression (198). For example, inflammatory bowel diseases are correlated with a sharply increased risk of CRC (199;200), which increase the longer chronic inflammation continues (201). Patients with inflammatory bowel disease who develop colorectal cancer also have a poorer prognosis than patients without chronic inflammation (202). Beyond inflammatory bowel disease, inflammation is generally present in CRC (18). As tumors advance, inflammatory cytokines are often present in high levels. In advanced CRC, measuring inflammatory cytokines in plasma can be used to predict outcome. Higher cytokine levels are associated with worse prognosis (203). Because of the risks that accompany inflammation, inflammatory pathways present potential therapeutic targets.

Among the potential therapeutic targets that have been investigated for CRC inhibition, the p38 pathway has been of interest as a source of inflammatory signaling. p38 MAPK is activated by inflammatory signaling or cell stress (204). Once phosphorylated, p38 initiates multiple pathways, including inflammatory pathways, metabolic pathways, and cytoskeletal changes (205-207). Inhibitors of p38 have entered clinical trials for treatment of multiple inflammatory diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease, and psoriasis (208). However, inhibition of p38 has resulted in off-target effects in multiple animal species (103). One potential therapeutic avenue is to target effectors downstream in the p38 pathway to try to prevent inflammation while potentially lessening off-target effects.

In this study, MK2, a kinase directly downstream of p38, is investigated as a potential therapeutic target. MK2 is phosphorylated by p38 and the p38-MK2 complex is transported to the nucleus, where MK2 induces the mRNA stabilization of three characteristic inflammatory cytokines associated with CRC: IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (24;209;210). Additionally, MK2 promotes TNF- α production by activating the mRNA stabilizer HuR (211;212). Unlike p38, which activates a number of other pathways, MK2 inhibition targets far fewer pathways while decreasing production of tumor-promoting inflammation. The MK2 downstream cytokines are particularly significant in inflammation and are associated with multiple aspects of cancer. These cytokines have been shown to increase as both colitis-associated and spontaneous CRC tumors progress (213;214). By controlling MK2 activity, it may be possible to affect three of the most common cytokines associated with CRC, and slow or reduce inflammation. IL-1 β ,

IL-6, and TNF- α are strongly associated with inflammation-driven cancers, including CRC. They are also known to contribute to tumor growth and invasion in multiple types of cancers, particularly CRC (24;209;210).

IL-1 β is an inflammasome-dependent cytokine, which is produced mostly by proinflammatory immune cells. IL-1 β initiates a cascade of pro-inflammatory activity that results in amplification of the inflammatory response. In a mouse model of colitis, the severity of disease was greatly alleviated by blocking inflammasome activity, and thus IL-1 β release (215). In CRC development and progression, IL-1 β increases invasion of the tumor (216). Blocking IL-1 β signaling in a colitis-associated model of CRC resulted in a reduction in tumor burden, indicating that it may be a good therapeutic target (217). Because IL-1 β is produced by infiltrating cells, reducing widespread inflammation within the tumor microenvironment may also reduce IL-1 β levels (218).

IL-6 has been shown to be an important regulator in CRC. In human samples, elevated IL-6 levels is associated with increased risk of CRC development (60). IL-6 production is stimulated in response to antigen recognition by immune cells, recognition of microbial patterns, or inflammatory cytokine signaling (219). IL-1 β signaling in many cell types, including epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and infiltrating immune cells, results in high quantities of IL-6 (220-222). IL-6 levels are correlated with poor survival, increased invasion, increased distant metastasis, and more advanced human tumors (223). Some pro-tumorigenic mechanisms of IL-6 include activation of STAT3, a transcription factor for genes associated with cancer cell proliferation and invasion (224;225). IL-6 also contributes to the progression of CRC through hypoxia-inducible pathways, which

promote survival of tumor cells (226). In mouse models of CRC, ablation of IL-6 reduces tumor burden and increases survival time suggesting it is a critical tumor-promoting factor (227).

The other documented cytokine regulated directly by MK2 activity is TNF- α . This cytokine is produced by a wide variety of cells in response to pro-inflammatory signaling, including in response to IL-1 (228). Increased TNF- α predisposes mice to development of CRC (229). Some of the suggested pro-tumorigenic activities of TNF- α are promoting migration and invasion in CRC (230) and pro-tumorigenic activity in infiltrating immune cells (231). The combination of TNF- α and IL-6 produces a synergistic response in CRC that promotes proliferation, survival, and further cytokine production through the activation of STAT3 (232). Preventing TNF- α also signaling reduces colitis-associated CRC in a mouse model (233). Because of its role in inflammation and tumor promotion, TNF- α control is an important area of interest in CRC therapies.

Since MK2 signaling is responsible for production of these three critical cytokines, it may be a novel tumor target. Blocking MK2-induced cytokines, either with antibodies to block cytokine signaling activity or by using knockout models, has resulted in reduced tumor size and invasion (224;234;235). We have also shown that majority of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α produced during a model of colitis-associated CRC is MK2-dependent (236). Here, the potential for MK2 inhibition as a treatment during tumor development is explored in two models of CRC. We found that that inhibition of MK2 can drastically reduce growth in an IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α dependent mechanism. These data suggest that MK2 may be an attractive target for therapeutic intervention.

Results

MK2 inhibition reduces CRC tumor growth

We previously showed that MK2 signaling is required for CRC development in the AOM/DSS model, which is a model for colitis-associated CRC (Chapter 3). To investigate the importance of this pathway in tumors progression, the syngeneic CT26 model was examined. The CT26 model is a model of spontaneous CRC. CT26 cells are fast growing and invasive, similar to advanced CRC tumor cells in humans. By using a cell line, we had the opportunity to selectively target tumor cells before injection into mice, allowing a better understanding of the cell-specific behavior of MK2.

CT26 cells in culture were found to have a constitutive level of phosphorylated MK2 (Figure 10A). To prevent initial MK2 signaling during tumor growth, CT26 cells were treated with 50 µM of specific MK2 inhibitor PF-364402 for 48 hours before injection into the mice. When injected into mice, at day 13 the mean tumor volume for vehicle control treated cells was 113 mm³, while the mean tumor volume from cells treated with MK2 inhibitor was 49 mm³ (Figure 10B). A similar effect was seen a week later at day 19 where control tumors had a mean tumor volume of 2260 mm³ and those treated with MK2 inhibitor had a mean of 957 mm³ (Figure 10C). The observed decrease in tumor burden suggest a lasting effect of MK2 inhibition where a 60% decrease in tumor size; measurements at d13 and d19 had a similar ratio of tumor size, suggesting that the MK2 inhibition effect is long-lasting (Figure 11A). A picture comparing the relative size



Figure 10. MK2 inhibition reduces CT26 tumor size. A) Western blot of CT26 cells shows that MK2 is active in CT26 tumors and signaling stops when serum-starved (S.S.). CT26 cells that were MK2-inhibited make smaller tumors at B) day 13 and C) day 19. n=8 for d13 and n=7 for d19. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001
of tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26 to those grown from vehicle-treated CT26 is visible in Figure 11B and C. MK2-treated cells made smaller tumors without any decrease in viability in culture (Figure 11D).

To further investigate the potential for MK2 inhibition as a therapeutic approach, a second model of CRC was examined. The AOM/DSS model is a clinically relevant model of colitis-associated cancer, where neoplasms develop in mice after administration of a mutagen and then recurrent colitis bouts. This model is initiated with an IP injection of the DNA alkylating agent (AOM), followed by three treatments of DSS added to drinking water. Previously, our lab found that neoplasms were grossly visible by day 52 (237), thus MK2 inhibitor treatments were administered starting at day 52, three times a week for 3 weeks (Figure 12A). Two different, specific MK2 inhibitors were tested. At day 80, the majority of mice treated with MK2 inhibitor were completely neoplasm-free (Figure 12B). Control mice had an average of 2.6 neoplasms, while mice treated with MK2 inhibitors had a mean of less than 1 neoplasm per mouse. The observed decrease in tumor growth in the CT26 tumor model and regression of tumors in the AOM/DSS model suggests that MK2 activity is critical for tumor growth in multiple models of CRC.

MK2 inhibition reduces pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with CRC

Systemic MK2 deletion has been shown to reduce production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in pancreatitis and LPS-induced inflammation (191;238) To examine the









Figure 12. MK2 inhibitors decrease neoplasm number in AOM/DSS model. In

A), a colitis-associated model of CRC, treatment with either of two MK2

inhibitors, MK2a or PF-364402, for 3 weeks results in B) fewer neoplasms in

inhibited groups. N=5 for vehicle control, N=7 for MK2 inhibitor groups.

impact of the MK2 pathway in cytokine production in CRC, organ culture supernatants were examined from two models of CRC. These were produced by whole tumor pieces, incubated to collect the secreted cytokines. Cytokines were measured via multiplex bead-based array. In the CT26 model, MK2 inhibition led to dramatically reduced levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α when compared with control tumors (Figure 13A-C). These cytokines have many potential cellular sources, including tumor cells, infiltrating immune cells, and stromal cells. To distinguish the tumor cell-specific differences between the inhibited and control tumor cells, tumor cells were isolated and cultured. Tumors were dissociated and cultured in fibronectin plates. CT26 cells bind to fibronectin, so tumor cells adhered to the plates; nonadherent cells were removed. To test the purity of the fibronectin-adherent population, we transfected CT26 cells with GFP. Tumors from these cells were dissociated and cultured; measuring these cells by flow indicated these cells were 98% GFP+ (Appendix A). In these cultures, CT26 cells cultured from tumors that had been treated with MK2 inhibitors before injection into the mice produced extremely reduced levels of IL-6 and did not produce detectable levels of TNF- α (Figures 14A and B). Neither the untreated control nor the inhibited tumor cells produced detectable levels of IL-1 β , suggesting that other cells in the tumor microenvironment are the source of IL-1 β in this model. The initial MK2 inhibitor treatment may have caused a decrease in inflammatory cytokine production



Figure 13. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production of CT26 tumors. Organ cultures from CT26 tumors grown from MK2inhibited cells shows tested via Luminex multiplex array shows reduced A) IL-6, B) TNF- α , C) IL-1 β . N=7 MK2i and 8 for controls.

В



Figure 14. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production of cultured tumor cells. Tumor cells isolated from tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26 produce no detectable A) IL-6 and B) TNF- α . N=6. **** = p \leq 0.0001. *Undetectable. that reduced the overall inflammation in the tumor microenvironment. The long-lasting anti-inflammatory phenotype supports the central role of MK2 in CRC-related inflammation.

Cytokines were also measured in the AOM/DSS mouse colon tissues. In this model, therapeutic administration of MK2 inhibitors resulted in colons that showed no visible signs of inflammation, redness or thickening as seen in control mice. Similar to the CT26 model, AOM/DSS treated mice administered MK2 inhibitors showed drastically reduced IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF α (Figure 15A-D). IL-6 was also reduced compared to the normal tissue from the controls (Figure 15C). The ability of CT26 tumors to establish inflammation via MK2-mediated signaling is an important component of their rapid growth. Since MK2-induced cytokines are known to promote growth, invasion, and metastasis, MK2 could be a critical component in pathogenesis of CRC.

Cytokines produced downstream of MK2 induce proliferation and invasion of tumor cells Since MK2 inhibition led to both decreased tumor burden and reduced downstream cytokine production, the role of MK2 inhibitors and these cytokines on tumor cell proliferation was examined. To first assess the potential direct effect of MK2 inhibition on CT26 cell proliferation, cells were treated for 48 hours with MK2 inhibitor. Cells were grown for 96 hours and then counted. MK2 inhibition was found to have no ability to directly reduce proliferation (Figure 16A). Conversely, when cells were treated with 10 μ g/ml of IL-1 β , IL-6, or TNF- α , significant increases in cell numbers were observed at 96 hours (Figure 16B). Furthermore, combining all three cytokines led to an increased



Figure 15. MK2 inhibitor treatment reduces cytokine production in AOM/DSS model. Organ cultures from normal and tumor tissues of AOM/DSS show increases in MK2-induced cytokines in tumor tissue, including A) IL-1 α , B) IL-1 β , C) IL-6, and D) TNF- α . N=5 for control, 7 for MK2-inhibited normal, and 1 MK2-inhibited tumor.



В

Α

Cell number at 96 hours



Figure 16. MK2-induced cytokines increase proliferation in CT26 cells. CT26 cells A) inhibited for 48 hours with MK2 inhibitor show no decrease in proliferation. Addition of B) IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α increases proliferation, and a cocktail of those cytokines increases proliferation further over serum-starved controls. N = 9 in triplicate experiments. *= $p \le 0.05$, **= $p \le 0.01$. effect on control cells, and had a similar effect on cells treated with MK2 inhibitor. These data support the role of each of the MK2-induced cytokines in promoting tumor cell proliferation.

In addition to proliferation, MK2-induced cytokines can drive invasion of tumor cells through the lamina propria (42;67;90). Thus, the role of these cytokines in CT26 invasion and migration was analyzed in scratch-wound assays where matrigel was added to the scratched wound. As seen in example images in Figure 17A, CT26 cells invaded the matrigel filled scratch by migrating into protrusions, which bridged the scratch within 72 hours. In contrast, wells treated with MK2 inhibitor developed very few protrusions and demonstrated vastly decreased invasion (Figure 17B and C). To assess the impact of MK2-induced cytokines on invasion, a mixture of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α significantly increased invasion (Figure 17D). Furthermore, addition of these cytokines to cells treated with MK2 inhibitor rescued the effects of the inhibitor on invasion. The ability of cytokines induced by MK2 to restore proliferation and invasion of cells treated with MK2 inhibitor suggests the mechanism by which MK2 signaling promotes colorectal tumors.

Addition of MK2-induced cytokines to tumors increases tumor size and cytokine production

Given the effects of MK2 downstream cytokines on tumor cell proliferation and invasion, the effects of these cytokines on tumors were examined *in vivo*. Control CT26 cells or cells treated with MK2 inhibitors were injected into mice. On d1, a cocktail of recombinant IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (in amounts similar to those produced by tumors in





Figure 17. MK2 and MK2-induced cytokines increase invasion. In a matrigel scratch-wound assay, A) MK2 inhibition decreased scratch closure of tumor cells isolated from CT26 tumors. Control cells B) grew protrusions that decreased with C) MK2 inhibitor treatment. D) MK2 inhibition decreased and MK2-cytokines increased scratch closure of serum-starved tumor cells. N=9, in triplicate.

Figure 13) was administered intratumorally to CT26 tumors. Cytokine treatment began at day 2 and continued three times/week. Cytokine treatment increased the size of tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26 (Figures 18A-C). Tumors from uninhibited CT26 treated with cytokines also increased in size compared to PBS controls. These data suggest that the MK2 inhibition reduced cytokine levels, leading to smaller tumors, and that MK2-induced cytokines were responsible for the increase in tumor when injected intratumorally.

To further investigate the mechanism by which IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α promote chronic inflammation and tumor growth, the effects of these cytokines on MK2 phosphorylation were examined. CT26 cells were serum starved to decrease signaling activity. Cells were treated with cytokines and MK2 phosphorylation was assayed. Addition of IL-1 β , IL-6, or TNF- α activated pMK2, indicating that MK2 activity can be positively regulated by cytokines that MK2 induces (Figure 19A). This supports the idea that a positive feedback loop exists between MK2 and the cytokines produced in response to MK2 signaling.

MK2-inhibited tumors with no cytokine treatment produce much less of the MK2induced cytokines than tumors grown from cells treated with MK2i. Cytokine-treated tumors from MK2i-treated cells secreted increased MK2-cytokines in organ culture (Figure 20A-C). Tumors from control CT26 that received additional IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α treatment showed increased IL-6. There was a trend towards increased TNF- α (mean of 21.4 pg/ml vs. 14.6 pg/ml) and IL-1 β (mean of 14.1 pg/ml vs. 10.2 pg/ml), but the increase did not reach statistical





Figure 18. MK2-induced cytokines rescue tumor burden in MK2inhibited tumors. Intratumoral injection of MK2-induced cytokines increased tumor size of tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26, as seen in A) a representative picture and B) volume and C) weight comparisons. Control tumors given MK2-induced cytokines were significantly larger. N=9 for PBS and 10 for cytokine-tx groups. ** = $p \le 0.01$, *** = $p \le 0.001$.



Figure 19. MK2-induced cytokines activate MK2. A) Addition of IL-1 β , IL-6, or TNF- α for 30m restores pMK2 levels in serum-starved (S.S.) CT26 culture. Vinculin is used here as a loading control.



Figure 20. Organ cultures from cytokine-treated tumors have increased MK2-induced cytokines. Treatment with MK2-induced cytokines restores production of A) IL-1 β , B) IL-6, and C) TNF- α in organ cultures of tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26 cells. N=9-10. * = p \leq 0.05, ** = p \leq 0.01. significance.

Measurement of cytokine mRNA confirms that cytokine treatment increased mRNA levels of MK2-induced cytokines. IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α levels in cytokine-treated pre-MK2i tumors are elevated above the control tumors (Figure 21A-C). The increase in cytokine levels is supportive evidence that changes to cytokine production within the tumor occur as a result of cytokine treatment, indicating positive feedback. Combined with the ability of IL-1 β , IL-6, or TNF- α to activate MK2 behavior, and evidence that MK2 is the primary regulator of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , these data support a feedback loop that is interrupted by MK2 inhibition and restored by IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α treatment. The cytokine mRNA levels of tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26 is statistically lower than controls for IL-1 β ; however, it is not significantly different for IL-6 or TNF- α . The comparable mRNA levels suggest that MK2 regulates the activity of cytokines through additional mechanisms besides mRNA stability.

For tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26, then, the decrease of tumor burden and cytokine production was contingent on maintaining low levels of MK2-induced cytokines. Treatment with cytokines restored tumor burden and inflammation, resulting in a tumor phenotype that was similar in size and cytokine profile to tumors grown from noninhibited CT26. These data support the critical role of MK2-induced cytokines in CRC growth, mediated through MK2.



H.M.Bruf

Prenti

0.0

Control

Figure 21. MK2-induced cytokines increase cytokine mRNA levels in pre-MK2i tumors. Pre-MK2i CT26 tumors treated with MK2 cytokines (IL1/IL6/TNF) make more A) IL-1 β , B) IL-6, and C) TNF- α mRNA. N=5. *=p<u><</u>0.05, ***=p<u><</u>0.001.

IL-1β alone promotes production of MK2-induced cytokines and tumor growth

IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 cross-regulate one another, and each is capable of leading to p-MK2 on its own (Figure 19A). Addition of a mixture of MK2-induced cytokines restores the presence of cytokine mRNA, supporting the idea that MK2-induced cytokines promote MK2 activation. If addition of MK2-induced cytokines does create MK2 activation, then addition of a single cytokine might be sufficient to activate MK2 activity and cytokine production within the tumor. IL-1 β was chosen because it was produced in relatively small amounts within the tumor, and not at all by cultured tumor cells, suggesting that it is produced by infiltrating cells or tumor-associated stroma. As quantities of cytokines were decided on the basis of what was observed from control tumor, addition of IL-1 β models the potential for inflammatory non-tumor cells to activate inflammation within the tumor microenvironment.

IL-1 β treatment restored the size of pre-MK2i tumors (Figure 22A). Unlike the combination cytokine treatment shown in Figure 18, the tumors that received IL-1 β were not significantly larger than the PBS control, although the mean size was higher (834 mm³ to 570 mm³). TNF- α and IL-6 levels from tumor supernatants were increased compared to PBS pre-MK2i. As all three MK2-induced cytokines showed a similar increase in proliferation speed in the proliferation tests (Figure 16B), the increased tumor size is likely due to the combination of cytokines, rather than the presence of IL-1 β alone.



Figure 22. IL-1 β restores MK2-induced cytokines and tumor size to pre-MK2i tumors. Intratumoral IL-1 β A) restores tumor burden in tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26. N=5, *** = p \leq 0.001.

MK2 regulates MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1, pro-invasive macrophage-attracting factors In MK2^{-/-} mice, macrophages are decreased in the colon both in PBS and AOM/DSStreated mice (Chapter 3). Macrophages are an important source of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in that model, and addition of bone marrow macrophages increased the neoplasm size in wild-type mice. Macrophage chemoattractant protein MCP-1 was regulated by MK2 in colon culture in that model. To investigate a potential role of MK2 for regulating macrophages in CT26 tumors, supernatants from whole tumors and cultured tumor cells were tested for cytokines that affect macrophage infiltration. CT26 tumors produce quantities of MCP-1, but also MIP-1 α and MIP-2 (Figure 23A-C). Tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26 had decreased levels of these MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2; and the cultured tumor cells produced barely detectable levels of MCP-1, and drastically reduced MIP-1 α and MIP-2 (Figure 23 D-F). These three cytokines are important in monocyte and macrophage migration, but have also been shown to promote invasion directly in tumor cells (239-241). To examine the effects on invasion, a cocktail of MIP-1α, MIP-2, and MCP-1 were added to a matrigel scratch-wound invasion assay. Like IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 activated MK2 in CT26 cells (Figure 24A). Although MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 are primarily considered to promote monocyte and macrophage migration, they all showed the ability to activate MK2 signaling in epithelial cells. In cultured cells from CT26 tumors, addition of MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 increased the speed of scratch closure, indicating pro-migratory characteristics (Figure 24B). These cytokines rescued the anti-invasive effects of MK2 inhibitor treatment, a







invasion but is rescued by MIP/MCP treatment. N=9, in triplicate. ** = p

<0.01, **** =p<0.0001.</pre>

similar pattern to that observed in MK2-induced cytokines. The observed increase in invasion suggests that MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 may be important not only in attracting and activating monocytes, but also by directly supporting tumor progression.

Restoration of macrophage-attracting cytokines or macrophages induces tumor growth and MK2-induced cytokine production

Infiltrating macrophages have been shown to respond to CT26- produced cytokines by migrating to the invasive edge of the tumor promote CT26 growth and invasion (242). In Chapter 3, we found that macrophages are important providers of MK2-induced cytokines. Addition of macrophages in the colitis-associated CRC model increased cytokine production and tumor burden. In the CT26 model, MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 were added to tumors as a cytokine cocktail, similar to the MK2-induced cocktail. Intratumoral MIP and MCP-1 rescued the phenotype of tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26 (Figure 25A). These cytokines also increased CT26 invasion. To separate the macrophage-attracting effects from any direct effects on CT26 cells, bone marrow macrophages were injected intratumorally. The macrophages also induced tumor growth to sizes comparable to the control.

Cytokine production from the MIP/MCP-treated group and the macrophage tumors was also increased. In the MIP/MCP group, IL-6 and TNF- α production were increased sharply, and IL-1 β levels went from nearly undetectable to approximately half the amount of the control tumors (Figure 25 B-D). Some of this increase may be due to directly activating MK2, as these cytokines are able to cause phosphorylation of MK2 (Figure 24), but another potential source of MK2-induced cytokines is inflammatory





Figure 25. Macrophages and macrophage-attracting cytokines restore pre-MK2i tumor burden. Intratumoral MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2 or bone marrow macrophages increases pre-MK2i A) tumor burden and whole tumor production of B) IL-1 β , C) IL-6, and D) TNF- α . N=4-5 for macrophage and 10 for other groups. macrophages, which can be attracted and activated by these cytokines. There was no significant difference in IL-6, TNF- α , or IL-1 β levels between the control tumors and the macrophage-treated tumors from MK2-inhibited cells; the macrophage treatment fully restored MK2-induced cytokine production as well as tumor burden (Figure 25 B-D). These data support the importance of the cell make-up in the tumor microenvironment, particularly of macrophages, which are regulated by MK2 activity within the tumor.

Discussion

MK2 is a target of growing interest in multiple cancers. In glioblastoma cells, MK2 activity supports pro-tumorigenic protein Khsrp and promotes secretion of IL-6, which promotes invasion and growth in glioblastoma just as it can in CRC (138;139). MK2 knockout significantly prevented tumor development in a model of skin cancer (140). Targeting MK2 in leukemia cells enhances apoptosis (243). The production of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α are critical elements in aggressive tumors in the colon as well as other tissues. Identification of MK2 as the primary control point opens possibilities for intervention. As aggressive tumors have increased levels of inflammation, inhibition of MK2 may be a viable solution to reduce the growth and invasion (18;203). As TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 are each important in their own right, their simultaneous control under MK2 offers a way to inhibit multiple pathways of CRC growth and invasion at once. MK2 also participates in cell cycle pathways, which may support its importance in noninflammatory survival pathways; this could be of potential interest in dual therapies with chemotherapeutic drugs (244). Inflammation is a primary mediator of tumor

growth, as observed in both colitis-associated and spontaneous models. The total restoration of tumor burden in tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26 cells is very suggestive of the importance of MK2-induced cytokines. Another indication of the importance of these cytokines and MK2 activity is the absence of neoplasms in MK2-inhibited mice in the inflammation-driven AOM/DSS model. Clearly, the MK2-cytokine loop is an important mechanism for tumor growth in CRC. Models of invasive spontaneous CRC and of colitis-associated CRC were used to further investigation of MK2 activity. We found that inhibition of MK2 reduced or eliminated tumor burden. The decrease in tumor burden to 25% of the control group in CT26 tumors, and the absence of tumor burden in 78.6% of the AOM/DSS mice, suggests that MK2 activity is a critical component in CRC, and is a promising therapeutic target (Fig. 1-2). MK2-induced cytokines are a potential mechanism to explain these differences.

MK2 activity increases production of MK2-induced cytokines, and MK2-induced cytokines, in turn, activate MK2 (Figure 19). Thus, initiation of MK2 signaling can create an inflammatory positive feedback loop. As cytokines are produced, they can signal in a paracrine manner, activating more MK2 and more cytokine production. The chronic inflammation is part of the tumor microenvironment. Inflammation changes infiltrating cell types and behavior. Because pro-inflammatory cytokines alter migration and behavior in nearly every cell type, the composition of the tumor microenvironment is dependent on the cytokine milieu. In addition to IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-6, MK2 regulates important chemoattractants for macrophage populations. The addition of these cytokines, without any further inflammatory addition, is enough to overcome reductions

in tumor burden in MK2-inhibited CT26 tumors, and increases the MK2-induced cytokines produced by tumors. These data support the role of MIP-1α, MIP-2, and MCP-1 as important regulators of tumor inflammation. Interrupting the MK2 to cytokine to MK2 feedback causes a cascade of alterations by reducing cytokine amounts. In our colitis-associated model, no gross signs of inflammation were observed in the colons of MK2 inhibited mice, and in CT26 tumors, inhibition of the MK2 pathway resulted in persistent reduction in cytokine production both from isolated tumor cells and from whole tumor supernatants. These observations support the idea that there are lasting effects of interruption of MK2 signaling.

MK2 inhibitor treatment lead to a greater reduction in tumor burden than other studies have reported with single-cytokine targeted therapies. IL-1 β blockade in an AOM/DSS model reduced tumor number by approximately half, but all mice developed tumors (217). IL-6 produced by both tumor and non-tumor cells contributes the tumor burden, and inhibition of IL-6 reduced tumor weight by, again, approximately 50% (245). Anti-TNF- α therapy reduced the number of tumors in obese mice by approximately half, and volume by approximately two thirds (229). In the two MK2 inhibitor groups in the AOM/DSS model, neoplasms were completely absent in 11/14 mice. The same trend was observed in a model of skin cancer, where TNF- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice developed fewer tumors than wild-type mice, but more than MK2^{-/-}. These differences may be due to MK2's control of multiple cytokines, and ability of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α to overlap and reinforce proliferative pathways in CRC.

One reason a reduced tumor burden is seen in MK2-inhibited tumors compared to any single cytokine pathway blockade is the way that inflammatory pathways promote production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Inflammasome activation is essential for IL- 1β production. The inflammasome can be activated by microbial changes during colitis, but also by TNF- α in a sterile manner (246;247). In turn, IL- 1β can drive IL-6 production. Thus, blocking TNF- α can reduce IL- 1β and IL-6 levels, but if the inflammasome is activated by invasion of microbiota through the damaged epithelium, there is a backup pathway that will result in production and secretion of IL- 1β and IL-6. Cross-activation was observed in mice treated with IL- 1β , which restored tumor burden and MK2-induced cytokine in tumor supernatants. Inhibition of MK2 adds additional feedback checkpoints, where both IL- 1β and IL-6 would be inhibited.

Interruption of the MK2-cytokine feedback loop can have long-term effects. Although MK2 inhibition was not continued after initiation of CT26 tumors, tumors and tumor cells from MK2-inhibited CT26 had reduced cytokine production. Properly timed inhibition can have continuing anti-inflammatory effects weeks after the inhibitor is no longer applied to cells. Adding MK2-induced cytokines to tumor cells from MK2- inhibited CT26-initiated tumors resulted in restored proliferation, cytokine production, and tumor growth, so the positive feedback loop can be restored by inflammatory signaling. However, the effects linger as long as no further sources of inflammation are introduced, as with the intratumoral injection of recombinant cytokines. Interestingly, Intratumoral restoration of physiological levels of MK2-regulated MIP and MCP proteins also resulted in rescued tumor burden, suggesting that macrophages have the potential

to drive the necessary inflammatory signaling that results in tumor growth. These cytokines also promote invasion in cultured tumor cells, so their effects on tumor behavior are not limited to attracting macrophages. Direct administration of bone marrow macrophages also restored tumor burden and cytokine production, indicating that macrophages may be an important source of cytokines, or can initiate the same inflammatory response as administration of recombinant MK2-induced cytokines does. The lasting effects of MK2 inhibition bode well for therapeutic applications of this pathway, as doses may be able to be spaced farther apart. With proper timing, MK2 inhibition need not be constant to provide a significant reduction in tumor size.

MK2 inhibitors are a promising target for combination therapies, and published data are promising. Inhibiting both MK2 and the cell cycle protein Chk1 results in increased apoptosis across multiple therapy-resistant cell lines (248). In an autochthonous model of non-small-cell lung cancer, MK2 inhibition sensitized p53-deficient tumors to cisplatin treatment (249). Many chemotherapeutics, including those commonly used in CRC, promote inflammation (250). Inflammation as a result of therapy is a concern not just because of the pro-tumorigenic results of inflammation, but because chemoresistance has been directly linked with IL-6 and IL-1 (251-253). Decreasing chemoresistant tumor cells could increase clearance of tumor cells and reduce recurrence rates. It is possible that the anti-inflammatory effects of MK2 inhibition could help prevent chemoresistant subpopulations developing in CRC. MK2 promotes not only pro-inflammatory pathways, but other pathways that control cell cycle. MK2^{-/-} mice have shown resistance to skin cancer, where they grew fewer tumors than wild-type mice. Part of this reduction is

likely due to reduced TNF- α production, as TNF- $\alpha^{-/-}$ animals also showed reduced tumor size, but also linked to changes in cell cycle and DNA repair signaling (254). In addition to inflammatory mediators, MK2 substrates include cell cycle proteins, DNA damage repair, and proteins associated with epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (255-257). In addition to the observed changes in pro-inflammatory cytokines, MK2 may have a significant effect on one or more of these areas within CRC, and further investigation is warranted.

CRC is one of the most common malignancies in the United States, and incidence among young adults is increasing (258). Identification of targets is ongoing due to the complicated, multi-faceted nature of CRC, but will be essential to improve outcomes, particularly in tumors identified in advanced stages. MK2, with its connections to inflammation and positioning as an intermediary within forward feedback loops, presents a potential weak spot for attack. We show here that inhibition of MK2 results in decreases in pro-tumorigenic cytokines and reduction or reversal of tumor growth.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

Introduction

Advanced CRC is difficult to eliminate, with extremely poor prognosis, but interrupting inflammatory pathways may provide an important opportunity for future treatments (1;121;259). These cancers are genetically diverse, but aggressive and advanced cancers have much higher levels of inflammation, which predict increased metastasis, invasion, and mortality (18;121;199;259-262). Increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in patient serum are correlated with tumor progression and predictors of tumor aggression and patient mortality (23;262). Each of these cytokines has, individually, been recognized as supporting cancer development and progression (18;29;233;263;264). Because of the widely recognized role that inflammation plays in CRC, pro-inflammatory molecules are under investigation for therapeutic targets.

The three major cytokines associated with CRC initiation and progression are controlled through the p38 pathway (265). p38, which is activated by cell stress and inflammatory signaling, has been investigated as a target in multiple diseases in which inflammation plays a significant role, including CRC (112;266). Unfortunately, p38 inhibitors display significant toxicity in animal models (111;113). Clinical trials have showed mixed results, but currently there are no inhibitors that have progressed beyond phase II clinical trials (18;29;111;111;233;263;264). Some investigators are moving upstream in signaling pathways in the search for anti-inflammatory interventions (113). However, moving downstream is also a strategy that can reduce toxicity (267); it may offer the opportunity to more accurately target cytokine production without inhibiting pathways also initiated by p38 that can be helpful in cancer or cause toxicity (268).

MK2, a kinase directly phosphorylated by p38, provides a promising downstream target for control of CRC through inflammatory cytokines (269). Reports from MK2^{-/-} animals show that IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α were reduced in many disease models, often to or below normal levels (186;191;209). Critically, MK2 inhibitors do not have the same adverse effects as observed with p38 inhibition; even mice that are MK2^{-/-} are viable and healthy (186). The control of inflammatory cytokine production, paired with a reduction in toxicity, makes MK2 an excellent target for intervention in CRC inflammation. At the initiation of this project, investigation into MK2 in cancer was limited, but in a skin cancer model, MK2^{-/-} mice showed reduced tumor incidence, and copy number had reported to vary in lung cancer patients (132;135;140). In the time since we began investigating MK2, MK2 has been increasingly implicated in tumor promotion in other cancer models and cell lines (24;134;136;137). Preliminary data produced by our lab showed that mRNA from human tumor samples had higher MK2 compared to normal controls (data not shown). These data and studies formed the basis for further investigation into the role of MK2 in CRC, with the hope for uncovering a potential target for therapeutic intervention. Based on the literature and preliminary findings, we crafted two aims to look at the role of MK2 in CRC.

Aim 1.

To determine the extent that MK2 drives neoplasm development and cytokine production in a colitis-associated model of colorectal cancer. For this aim, we hypothesized that MK2^{-/-} mice would have decreased IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α and reduced neoplasm development. We further hypothesized that one important source of the MK2-induced cytokines was macrophage populations.

Aim 2.

To examine MK2's role in CRC growth as mediated by MK2-induced cytokines, and to evaluate the use of MK2 inhibitors as therapeutic intervention in CRC models. We hypothesized that interruption of MK2 activity in a tumor would result in decreased IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , and a lower tumor burden.

These two aims were designed to investigate the interplay between MK2, MK2-induced cytokines, and CRC across two different mouse models, and to gather evidence into the therapeutic value of MK2 inhibition. The results gathered from this investigation strongly support the prominence of MK2 in CRC development and progression, and provide evidence that MK2 inhibition is a promising strategy.

Results

MK2 is vital to CRC development. In Chapter 3, we found that MK2^{-/-} mice are profoundly resistant to development of neoplasms in a colitis-associated CRC model. None of the MK2^{-/-} mice had neoplasms at harvest, although the WT mice developed an average of 3.2 neoplasms. Histological examination of the colon revealed that the MK2^{-/-} colons are grossly normal. Using colon supernatants to examine the production of cytokines revealed that the pro-tumorigenic MK2-induced cytokines IL-1, IL-6, and TNFα were all profoundly decreased in comparison to WT AOM/DSS mice. MK2 thus appears to be the major pathway for the production of these cytokines in this model. The lack of compensatory pathways makes MK2 a better candidate for intervention, and underscores its essential role; MK2 is indispensable to colitis-associated CRC development.

Macrophages are an important source of inflammatory cytokines in colitis-associated CRC, so we investigated the cell-specific role of MK2 in macrophages. MK2^{-/-} mice had decreased macrophages both before and after AOM/DSS treatment. This decrease indicates that MK2 is important in the attraction or maintenance of macrophages in the gut both during homeostasis and CRC development. Macrophage-attracting factors GM-CSF and MIP-1 were reduced in organ supernatants, suggesting one mechanism by which the decrease in macrophages is occurring. Fewer of the macrophages isolated from MK2^{-/-} mice produce MK2-induced cytokines. This is true for both PBS and AOM/DSS-treated mice. We hypothesized that the lack of pro-inflammatory macrophages could also contribute to the lack of neoplasm development observed. To test this hypothesis, we injected WT macrophages intraperitoneally into WT or MK2^{-/-} mice. In WT mice, the additional macrophages resulted in an increase in TNF- α and IL-6, as well as GM-CSF and MIP-1. The average number of neoplasms doubled in these mice, supporting the importance of macrophages and MK2-associated signaling in tumor burden. In MK2^{-/-} mice, there was an increase in the MK2-induced cytokines. Levels of

IL-6, GM-CSF, and MCP-1 were the same as WT AOM/DSS mice that had not received supplementary macrophages. However, this increase was not enough to cause neoplasm development; all MK2^{-/-} mice remained neoplasm-free. Thus, while MK2^{+/+} macrophages can provide high levels of MK2-induced cytokines, their presence alone does not alleviate the profound tumor suppression in MK2-deficient mice.

Tumor cells themselves can promote inflammation through the secretion of cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , as well as by the production of other proteins that attract immune cells and activate inflammatory phenotypes in surrounding tissue. In Chapter 4, we explored MK2 inhibition in established or establishing tumors, and found that MK2 inhibition reduces tumor burden and inflammation. Using the colitis-associated CRC model utilized in Chapter 3, we treated mice with one of two MK2 inhibitors at the time that neoplasm formation is observable in 85% of WT mice. After three weeks, we ceased treatment. Both of the MK2 inhibitor-treated groups had regression of tumors: 5/7 and 6/7 of the mice in the two inhibitor-treated groups were neoplasm-free. MK2-induced cytokines were the same as matched normal tissue from the PBS group; IL-6 was significantly decreased compared to normal. Only two of the neoplasm-bearing mice from the inhibitor groups had tumors large enough to sample for cytokine production. Both of these tumors produced high levels of IL-1 β , and low levels of IL-6 compared to control neoplasms. In tumors grown from CT26 cell line, we found that pre-treating CT26 cells to inhibit MK2 activity before injection resulted in tumors less than half the size of the controls. These pre-MK2i tumors produced decreased MK2-induced cytokines. Isolated and cultured tumor cells grown from these tumors also showed

decreased production of MK2-induced cytokines. In vitro, we found that MK2-induced cytokines increased pMK2 levels in CT26 cells, suggesting that MK2 and MK2-induced cytokines participated in a forward feedback loop. The existence of the feedback loop was supported by an injection of IL-1 β into pre-MK2i tumors. Like the combination of MK2 cytokines, IL-1 β alone restored tumor size, and tumor supernatants contained comparable levels of the other MK2-induced cytokines. We injected MK2-induced cytokines into pre-MK2i and control tumors. Pre-MK2i tumors grew to the size of control tumors, suggesting that the size difference was cytokine-dependent. Both the tumor and cultured tumor cell supernatants from pre-MK2i tumors also produced less MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2. These are chemokines that promote infiltration of macrophages. Restoration of MCP-1, MIP-1 α , and MIP-2 also increased pre-MK2i tumor volume to the size of the vehicle control. We injected macrophages intratumorally and observed an increase of tumor size. Tumors grown from MK2-inhibited CT26 can thus be "rescued" from their decreased growth by administering inflammatory cytokines, attracting pro-inflammatory macrophage populations, or delivering macrophages directing to the site.

The addition of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α to the tumor increased the levels of each of these cytokines in the supernatant of tumors, The increase could partially be attributed to remaining recombinant cytokines in the tissue, but mRNA for these cytokines was also significantly increased for cytokine-treated tumors. In addition, CT26 tumors grown from MK2-inhibited cells also showed restored cytokine production when treated only with IL-1 β , suggesting that the cytokines are a result of activation of pro-inflammatory
cytokine production, and not solely due to recombinant cytokines. Administration of MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 increased IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in tumors from MK2inhibited CT26. Intratumoral delivery of macrophages also increased MK2-induced cytokines; IL-6 and TNF- α reached the level of control tumors. In macrophage-treated tumors grown from control CT26, IL-6 was significantly increased. MCP and MIP proteins and infiltrating macrophages are thus implicated in the control of MK2-induced cytokine production.

Discussion and Future Directions

This work demonstrates the critical role that MK2 has in CRC development and progression, and identifies MK2 as a potential therapeutic target in CRC. These studies provide a foundation for further development of translational research that may improve outcomes for CRC patients. It also examines the cell-specific roles of MK2 in tumor cells and macrophages. MK2 blockade was completely protective against neoplasm development in the clinically relevant AOM/DSS model (169). Production of MK2-induced cytokines associated with development of CRC was decreased; in the case of IL-1 α and TNF- α , these cytokines were at normal levels. Inhibition of IL-1 α has shown promise in a Phase III clinical trial (270), so the reduction seen here backs up the relevance of the lack of neoplasm development. Introduction of MK2^{+/+} macrophages increased MK2-induced cytokines, suggesting that the macrophage population promotes tumorigenic inflammation and is an important source for these cytokines. The increase in neoplasms observed when macrophages were injected into WT, but not MK2^{-/-}, mice suggests that the increase in inflammation introduced by macrophages

promotes tumor growth but is inadequate to initiate neoplasms independently. MK2 inhibitors, administered after neoplasms began to develop, reversed neoplasm growth and left the majority of mice neoplasm free. MK2 signaling continues to be critical after CRC initiation, and is a good target in this model. CT26 cells that were MK2 inhibited when they were injected into mice produced smaller tumors that made less protumorigenic cytokines. Interestingly, differences in the production of MK2-induced cytokines were observed long after the cells were no longer actively inhibited. Intratumoral injection of a cocktail of MK2-induced cytokines restored growth of inhibited tumors. This data suggests that the difference in size was not due to increased death, but to a lack of inflammation in the tumor cells that originated the tumor.

Administration of IL-1 β rescued the phenotype of tumors from MK2-inhibited CT26 cells. IL-1 β increased proliferation of CT26 cells in culture, but to an equal extent as either TNF- α or IL-6 alone. A combination of cytokines increased proliferation *in vitro*. *In vivo*, IL-1 β was nearly as effective as the combination of the three MK2-induced cytokines. IL-1 β treated tumors produced TNF- α and IL-6 on a similar level to control tumors, suggesting that IL-1 was able to initiate the MK2 forward feedback loop, activating MK2 activity and driving cytokine production. The phenotype seen in tumors from MK2inhibited cells is thus sensitive to inflammatory signaling.

One potential source of inflammatory signaling is cytokines from macrophages. In the AOM/DSS model, macrophages produced high levels of MK2-induced cytokines. As MK2 also regulates production of MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1, this could adversely affect macrophage infiltration and activation. Addition of macrophages to wild-type mice in

the AOM/DSS model increase tumor burden, and addition of macrophages or tumorproduced levels of MIPs and MCP-1 increased tumor size of pre-MK2i CT26 tumors. MK2 is an important regulator of inflammation not only through alteration of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , but also by controlling infiltration of macrophage populations. In turn, macrophages drawn to tumors can promote tumor growth and invasion by creating an inflammatory environment and activating MK2 in the tumor microenvironment.

These experiments allow for a hypothesis as to the order of events in MK2-supported tumors. In the CT26 model, tumor-specific inhibition of MK2 reduced tumor burden, which suggests that the IL-6 and TNF- α made by the tumor cells was necessary for the inflammatory response seen in CT26 tumors. These cells did not produce IL-1 β , so that cytokine was likely produced by stroma and infiltrating immune cells after initiation of inflammation. Both IL-6 and TNF- α activate MK2 activity in cell lines, so autocrine and paracrine signaling from these cytokines drives continuing MK2 signaling in the tumor cells, and is likely to activate MK2 in the surrounding tissue. As MK2-induced cytokines are made, they attract infiltrating immune cells. IL-1 β and IL-6 are directly associated with macrophage migration (271-274). TNF- α indirectly induces endothelial activation that increases infiltration of macrophages (275). In Chapter 4, it was demonstrated that MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1 are also regulated by MK-2; these are important for recruiting macrophages to the colon (150;152;153). Inhibition of MK2 reduces multiple important sources of macrophage attraction. Macrophages are important sources of MK2-induced cytokines, which increase CRC tumor size. Addition of macrophages to neoplasms in AOM/DSS increases tumor size and cytokine production; in CT26 tumors, it

restored the growth in pre-MK2i tumors and increased cytokine production. While MK2 activity is ongoing, this creates a powerful forward feedback loop, where additional IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α are produced by inflammatory macrophages, promoting further MK2 signaling. These cytokines drive tumor growth as they promote further cytokine production and attraction of inflammatory macrophages. Inhibition of tumor cellspecific MK2 prevents these steps, and maintains a tumor microenvironment with much lower levels of inflammation. MK2 activity and cytokine production remains suppressed as tumors grow, resulting in a lower tumor burden. See Figure 26 for a graphical representation of this proposed pathway.

Future Direction: Mechanism of IL-1 and IL-6 Induction by MK2

MK2 has a number of substrates, but none have been confirmed to directly affect IL-1 and IL-6 production. The substrate may affect mRNA quantities, as with TNF- α , which is regulated through mRNA stabilization (121;276). Not all inflammatory cytokine production in the p38 pathway is due to MK2; in a model of parasite infection, p38 inhibition decreased levels of IL-6, but not of IL-1 β or TNF- α (277). Although so far all three cytokines have been regulated through MK2 in the models of CRC used, that may not be the same for all cancers or conditions. An understanding of how MK2 regulates cytokine production would shed light on cases where cytokine regulation appears to differ, such as when MK2 inhibition increases TNF- α levels in an acute myeloid leukemia model (278). One potential avenue for investigation is MK2's control of p38 localization. Because MK2 has a nuclear export signal that is exposed when MK2 is phosphorylated, MK2 activity can control the location of the p38-MK2 complex (279). Cytosolic

localization of p38 is thus regulated by MK2 phosphorylation. MK2 can also act as a platform for complex formation, modulating binding availability for p38 substrates. Changes in localization of p38 would affect its ability to activate other substrates that could lead to cytokine production, for example Jun and NFkB. These both result in increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production (92).

The two most likely paths for direct MK2 signaling paths for IL-6 and IL-1 production are through stabilization of the mRNA or activation of activating transcription factor 1 (ATF-1). mRNA stabilization can be affected direct through MK2 phosphorylation of proteins that bind AU-rich elements (ARE) in mRNA, or through signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). For IL-6, the same mechanisms that regulate TNF- α mRNA stability can also affect IL-6 mRNA, but since TNF- α can also affect IL-6 mRNA, further investigation is necessary to show if this is the primary pathway for MK2 regulation (121;259). Another potential pathway worth investigating is the STAT3 pathway. In the nucleus, active MK2 phosphorylates TRIM28, a transcriptional repressor protein that binds to STAT3 (280). Once phosphorylated, TRIM28 dissociates from the STAT3 gene, allowing transcription (281). STAT3 can also affect mRNA stability of IL-6 mRNA, through the same mechanism as MK2 (282). However, it has not been confirmed whether this regulation is the most important for MK2-regulated IL-6. IL-1 β can also be regulated by STAT3 (283). Another potential target is activating transcription factor 1 (ATF-1), a MK2 substrate that can promote IL-6. ATF-1 binds to the IL-6 transcription site, and has been



Figure 26. MK2 promotes colorectal cancer through cytokine production and activation and recruitment of immune cells. MK2 activity in tumor cells supports production of two critical groups of cytokines: a) IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , and b) MIP-1 α , MIP-2, and MCP-1. Both of these clusters promote further MK2 signaling, creating positive feedback. Both support invasion and migration of tumor cells. MIPs and MCP-1 attract and activate macrophages, which contribute to the pool of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α . These cytokines drive tumor proliferation. implicated in IL-6 production in macrophages (284;285). ATF-1 also binds to the promoter site of IL-1, but it is unknown the extent to which it influences mRNA production (286). Investigation into these pathways might reveal primary mechanisms for IL-1 and IL-6 production. Understanding how MK2 promotes cytokine production and whether the path is the same or differs for each might also reveal further downstream targets. For example, if all cytokines are primarily regulated through one or more AREbinding proteins, that could provide a way of blocking MK2-induced cytokines while leaving the rest of MK2 activity intact. Investigating this mechanism could help clarify the extent of other MK2 signaling pathways in promoting and progressing cancers, and provide insight into the co-regulation of inflammatory cytokines within the immune system.

Therapeutic Pursuit: Dual Therapy and Chemoresistance

Most new therapies are used not as replacements for existing drug treatments, but as co-treatments to increase efficacy, decrease side effects, or otherwise improve outcomes of existing therapies. MK2 inhibition thus warrants further investigation to its effects alongside traditional treatments of CRC. Anti-tumor drugs commonly used in mouse models are applicable to human patients, which makes testing of dual therapies relatively straightforward. Examining the role of MK2 in chemoresistance and effects of adding MK2 inhibitors to standard therapies in mice would be a necessary step in investigating MK2 for potential therapeutic value. MK2 could contribute through chemoresistance directly, through intracellular signaling that supports survival and DNA

repair, or through increased production of MK2-induced cytokines, which can support development and promote survival of chemoresistant tumors.

Limitations of this Study

Every scientific study has limits on the variables examined and the conclusions made, and this work is no different. When the conclusions are promising, particularly in work that might be of clinical relevance, caution is especially warranted. Small and large limitations of this project are discussed throughout, intertwined with the results and discussions sections of Chapter 3 and 4. However, I would like to highlight two of the big limitations of these studies so far.

Crosstalk and overlap of MK2-induced cytokine signaling

The immune system is inextricably interwoven; signaling pathways are often overlapping and redundant. IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α are all downstream of MK2, but they can also activate cytokine receptors on cells. Cytokine signaling directly leads to p38 activation in the case of IL-1 α , IL-1 β and TNF- α (95;126). p38, in turn, activates MK2 and promotes more cytokine production. This positive feedback loop is part of why MK2 inhibition appears to be so powerful and long-lasting. However, because cytokines regulate each other, it is difficult to distinguish the effects of a single MK2-induced cytokine.

In addition, many of the cytokines influence the same tumor processes; they induce growth, survival, invasion, and more inflammation. Because there is overlap between MK2-induced cytokine activities, delineating a clear role for each is difficult. Separating

out the effects of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-α is especially true because they can induce one another. There are other MK2-indepedent mechanisms by which cytokines are made. In our models, MK2 is the primary regulator of cytokine production; this may not be true in all tissues or for all genetic backgrounds. Because MK2 appears to be responsible for much of the cytokine production, it is easy to overlook these other cytokine production pathways. Alternate signaling paths could provide a potential escape point for tumors, particularly after prolonged MK2 inhibition. One potential pathway would be to allow mice treated with AOM/DSS and MK2 inhibitors a longer period after treatment ceased to investigate tumor recurrence in the long-term absence of treatment.

Alternate MK2 pathways to affect cancer

Inflammation is an important factor in many cancers, not just CRC, but this may not be the only mechanism by which MK2 influences tumor outcomes. MK2 substrates also include cell cycling proteins CDC25B and CDC 25C (306;307). CDC25B and CDC25C are cell cycle promotion proteins that are part of a complex that moves cells from the G2 phase to the M phase (308). In the absence of DNA damage, CDC25B may be phosphorylated by CHK1 as well as MK2 (309). Inhibition of both MK2 and CHK1 has shown to induce apoptosis in multiple tumor cell lines that are normally resistant to apoptotic death (244;309). The CDC25 family has been identified as potential therapeutic targets in cancer, so MK2's activation may be one angle to examine control of two members of the family (310). The phosphorylation sites on CDC25B and C inhibit activity, preventing progression into the cell cycle (311). Although cancer is normally associated with uncontrolled proliferation, checkpoints during DNA damage can assist in tumor survival. Chemotherapeutics often cause DNA damage; rapidly dividing cells, such as tumors, are especially vulnerable to cell death due to this damage. The activation of DNA repair pathways requires suspension of replication. If these proliferation checkpoints are not available, tumor cell death greatly increases. In a dual-treatment system, MK2 inhibitors may sensitize cells to DNA damaging agents. Increased sensitivity has been observed in p53-deficient tumors, where p53 and MK2 deficient cells are far more sensitive to DNA damage (312). Investigating these other roles that MK2 plays may reveal more about the cell-specific ways MK2 supports cancer, and shed light into the mechanisms and potential effectiveness of MK2 inhibition. MK2's downstream signaling may play an important part in tumor survival and chemoresistance in a way that is not inflammation-mediated. Investigation into dual therapies, discussed above under Future Directions, would be one promising avenue to further pursue the different ways MK2 can affect survival and proliferation.

List of Abbreviations

AOM	Azoxymethane
ATF-1	Activating transcription factor 1
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
CRC	Colorectal cancer
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DSS	Dextran sodium sulfate
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
hnRNP A0	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A0
HuR	Human antigen R
IL-1β	Interleukin 1-beta
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IP	Intraperitoneal
IT	Intratumoral
MIP-1α	Macrophage inflammatory protein 1- α (aka CCL3)
MIP-2	Macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (aka CXCL2)
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein (aka CCL2)

MK2 Mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (aka

МАРКАРК2)

PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
ТТР	Tristetraprolin

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J.Clin. 2017 Jan;67(1):7-30
- Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Bishop K, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2013, based on November 2015 SEER data submission.

http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2013/. 2017. Bethesda, MD, National Cancer Institute.

Ref Type: Generic

- Lin JS, Piper MA, Perdue LA, Rutter CM, Webber EM, O'Connor E, Smith N, Whitlock EP. Screening for Colorectal Cancer: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA 2016 Jun 21;315(23):2576-94
- Singh KE, Taylor TH, Pan CG, Stamos MJ, Zell JA. Colorectal Cancer Incidence Among Young Adults in California. J.Adolesc.Young.Adult.Oncol. 2014 Dec 1;3(4):176-84. PMCID:PMC4270106
- Rustgi AK. The genetics of hereditary colon cancer. Genes Dev. 2007 Oct 15;21(20):2525-38
- Rustgi AK, Podolsky DK. The molecular basis of colon cancer. Annu.Rev.Med. 1992;43:61-8

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011 Mar 4;144(5):646-74
- Landen NX, Li D, Stahle M. Transition from inflammation to proliferation: a critical step during wound healing. Cell Mol.Life Sci. 2016 Oct;73(20):3861-85.
 PMCID:PMC5021733
- Kiraly O, Gong G, Olipitz W, Muthupalani S, Engelward BP. Inflammation-induced cell proliferation potentiates DNA damage-induced mutations in vivo. PLoS.Genet. 2015 Feb;11(2):e1004901. PMCID:PMC4372043
- 10. Garrett WS, Gordon JI, Glimcher LH. Homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine. Cell 2010 Mar 19;140(6):859-70. PMCID:PMC2845719
- Chistiakov DA, Bobryshev YV, Kozarov E, Sobenin IA, Orekhov AN. Intestinal mucosal tolerance and impact of gut microbiota to mucosal tolerance. Front Microbiol. 2014;5:781. PMCID:PMC4292724
- Kappelman MD, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman K, Ollendorf D, Bousvaros A, Grand RJ, Finkelstein JA. The prevalence and geographic distribution of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in the United States. Clin.Gastroenterol.Hepatol. 2007 Dec;5(12):1424-9
- Rubin DC, Shaker A, Levin MS. Chronic intestinal inflammation: inflammatory bowel disease and colitis-associated colon cancer. Front Immunol. 2012;3:107.
 PMCID:PMC3347037

- 14. Triantafillidis JK, Nasioulas G, Kosmidis PA. Colorectal cancer and inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiology, risk factors, mechanisms of carcinogenesis and prevention strategies. Anticancer Res. 2009 Jul;29(7):2727-37
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. A population-based study. N.Engl.J Med. 1990 Nov 1;323(18):1228-33
- 16. Larsson SC, Wolk A. Meat consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a metaanalysis of prospective studies. Int.J Cancer 2006 Dec 1;119(11):2657-64
- 17. Campbell PT, Cotterchio M, Dicks E, Parfrey P, Gallinger S, McLaughlin JR. Excess body weight and colorectal cancer risk in Canada: associations in subgroups of clinically defined familial risk of cancer. Cancer Epidemiol.Biomarkers Prev. 2007 Sep;16(9):1735-44
- Grivennikov SI. Inflammation and colorectal cancer: colitis-associated neoplasia.
 Semin.Immunopathol. 2013 Mar;35(2):229-44. PMCID:PMC3568220
- 19. Adams SV, Ahnen DJ, Baron JA, Campbell PT, Gallinger S, Grady WM, LeMarchand L, Lindor NM, Potter JD, Newcomb PA. Survival after inflammatory bowel diseaseassociated colorectal cancer in the Colon Cancer Family Registry. World J Gastroenterol. 2013 Jun 7;19(21):3241-8. PMCID:PMC3671075
- 20. Ording AG, Horvath-Puho E, Erichsen R, Long MD, Baron JA, Lash TL, Sorensen HT. Five-year mortality in colorectal cancer patients with ulcerative colitis or Crohn's

disease: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Inflamm.Bowel.Dis. 2013 Mar;19(4):800-5

- Neurath MF. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2014 May;14(5):329-42
- 22. Burgdorf SK, Claesson MH, Nielsen HJ, Rosenberg J. Changes in cytokine and biomarker blood levels in patients with colorectal cancer during dendritic cellbased vaccination. Acta Oncol 2009;48(8):1157-64
- 23. Chang PH, Pan YP, Fan CW, Tseng WK, Huang JS, Wu TH, Chou WC, Wang CH, Yeh KY. Pretreatment serum interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha levels predict the progression of colorectal cancer. Cancer Med. 2016 Mar;5(3):426-33. PMCID:PMC4799955
- 24. Ray AL, Castillo EF, Morris KT, Nofchissey RA, Weston LL, Samedi VG, Hanson JA, Gaestel M, Pinchuk IV, Beswick EJ. Blockade of MK2 is protective in inflammationassociated colorectal cancer development. Int.J.Cancer 2016 Feb 1;138(3):770-5. PMCID:PMC4715542
- 25. Garlanda C, Dinarello CA, Mantovani A. The interleukin-1 family: back to the future. Immunity. 2013 Dec 12;39(6):1003-18. PMCID:PMC3933951
- 26. Arbore G, West EE, Spolski R, Robertson AA, Klos A, Rheinheimer C, Dutow P, Woodruff TM, Yu ZX, O'Neill LA, et al. T helper 1 immunity requires complement-

driven NLRP3 inflammasome activity in CD4(+) T cells. Science 2016 Jun 17;352(6292):aad1210. PMCID:PMC5015487

- 27. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. Nat.Med. 2015 Jul;21(7):677-87. PMCID:PMC4519035
- Dinarello CA. Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. Blood 1996 Mar 15;87(6):2095-147
- Voronov E, Apte RN. IL-1 in Colon Inflammation, Colon Carcinogenesis and Invasiveness of Colon Cancer. Cancer Microenviron. 2015 Dec;8(3):187-200. PMCID:PMC4715003
- 30. Lotze MT, Deisseroth A, Rubartelli A. Damage associated molecular pattern molecules. Clin Immunol. 2007 Jul;124(1):1-4. PMCID:PMC2000827
- 31. McAlindon ME, Galvin A, McKaig B, Gray T, Sewell HF, Mahida YR. Investigation of the expression of IL-1beta converting enzyme and apoptosis in normal and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) mucosal macrophages. Clin Exp.Immunol. 1999 May;116(2):251-7. PMCID:PMC1905291
- Davies CM, Guilak F, Weinberg JB, Fermor B. Reactive nitrogen and oxygen species in interleukin-1-mediated DNA damage associated with osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis.Cartilage. 2008 May;16(5):624-30. PMCID:PMC2430155

- 33. Cohen I, Rider P, Vornov E, Tomas M, Tudor C, Wegner M, Brondani L, Freudenberg M, Mittler G, Ferrando-May E, et al. IL-1alpha is a DNA damage sensor linking genotoxic stress signaling to sterile inflammation and innate immunity. Sci.Rep. 2015 Oct 6;5:14756. PMCID:PMC4593953
- Kanarek N, Grivennikov SI, Leshets M, Lasry A, Alkalay I, Horwitz E, Shaul YD, Stachler M, Voronov E, Apte RN, et al. Critical role for IL-1beta in DNA damageinduced mucositis. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 2014 Feb 11;111(6):E702-E711.
 PMCID:PMC3926043
- 35. Jaiswal M, LaRusso NF, Burgart LJ, Gores GJ. Inflammatory cytokines induce DNA damage and inhibit DNA repair in cholangiocarcinoma cells by a nitric oxidedependent mechanism. Cancer Res. 2000 Jan 1;60(1):184-90
- 36. Kondo M, Yamato M, Takagi R, Namiki H, Okano T. The regulation of epithelial cell proliferation and growth by IL-1 receptor antagonist. Biomaterials 2013 Jan;34(1):121-9
- 37. Luo JL, Maeda S, Hsu LC, Yagita H, Karin M. Inhibition of NF-kappaB in cancer cells converts inflammation- induced tumor growth mediated by TNFalpha to TRAILmediated tumor regression. Cancer Cell 2004 Sep;6(3):297-305
- Harada D, Takigawa N, Kiura K. The Role of STAT3 in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer.
 Cancers.(Basel) 2014 Mar 26;6(2):708-22. PMCID:PMC4074799

- Voronov E, Carmi Y, Apte RN. The role IL-1 in tumor-mediated angiogenesis. Front Physiol 2014;5:114. PMCID:PMC3975103
- 40. Weidner N. Tumoural vascularity as a prognostic factor in cancer patients: the evidence continues to grow. J Pathol. 1998 Feb;184(2):119-22
- 41. Weidner N. Tumour vascularity and proliferation: clear evidence of a close relationship. J Pathol. 1999 Nov;189(3):297-9
- Li Y, Wang L, Pappan L, Galliher-Beckley A, Shi J. IL-1beta promotes stemness and invasiveness of colon cancer cells through Zeb1 activation. Mol.Cancer 2012 Nov 23;11:87. PMCID:PMC3532073
- 43. Holen I, Lefley DV, Francis SE, Rennicks S, Bradbury S, Coleman RE, Ottewell P. IL-1 drives breast cancer growth and bone metastasis in vivo. Oncotarget. 2016 Nov 15;7(46):75571-84
- 44. Vidal-Vanaclocha F, Fantuzzi G, Mendoza L, Fuentes AM, Anasagasti MJ, Martin J, Carrascal T, Walsh P, Reznikov LL, Kim SH, et al. IL-18 regulates IL-1betadependent hepatic melanoma metastasis via vascular cell adhesion molecule-1. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 2000 Jan 18;97(2):734-9. PMCID:PMC15399
- 45. Elaraj DM, Weinreich DM, Varghese S, Puhlmann M, Hewitt SM, Carroll NM, Feldman ED, Turner EM, Alexander HR. The role of interleukin 1 in growth and metastasis of human cancer xenografts. Clin Cancer Res. 2006 Feb 15;12(4):1088-96

- 46. Li HJ, Reinhardt F, Herschman HR, Weinberg RA. Cancer-stimulated mesenchymal stem cells create a carcinoma stem cell niche via prostaglandin E2 signaling.
 Cancer Discov. 2012 Sep;2(9):840-55. PMCID:PMC3833451
- 47. Krueger J, Ray A, Tamm I, Sehgal PB. Expression and function of interleukin-6 in epithelial cells. J Cell Biochem. 1991 Apr;45(4):327-34
- 48. Akira S, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Interleukin-6 in biology and medicine. Adv.Immunol. 1993;54:1-78
- 49. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Masuda K, Kishimoto T. Regulation of IL-6 in Immunity and Diseases. Adv.Exp.Med.Biol. 2016;941:79-88
- Masuda K, Ripley B, Nishimura R, Mino T, Takeuchi O, Shioi G, Kiyonari H,
 Kishimoto T. Arid5a controls IL-6 mRNA stability, which contributes to elevation of
 IL-6 level in vivo. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 2013 Jun 4;110(23):9409-14.
 PMCID:PMC3677444
- 51. Zhao W, Liu M, Kirkwood KL. p38alpha stabilizes interleukin-6 mRNA via multiple AU-rich elements. J Biol.Chem. 2008 Jan 25;283(4):1778-85. PMCID:PMC2806577
- 52. Calabrese LH, Rose-John S. IL-6 biology: implications for clinical targeting in rheumatic disease. Nat.Rev.Rheumatol. 2014 Dec;10(12):720-7
- 53. Narazaki M, Yasukawa K, Saito T, Ohsugi Y, Fukui H, Koishihara Y, Yancopoulos GD, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Soluble forms of the interleukin-6 signal-transducing

receptor component gp130 in human serum possessing a potential to inhibit signals through membrane-anchored gp130. Blood 1993 Aug 15;82(4):1120-6

- 54. Aden K, Breuer A, Rehman A, Geese H, Tran F, Sommer J, Waetzig GH, Reinheimer TM, Schreiber S, Rose-John S, et al. Classic IL-6R signalling is dispensable for intestinal epithelial proliferation and repair. Oncogenesis. 2016 Nov 21;5(11):e270. PMCID:PMC5141292
- 55. Yamamoto M, Yoshizaki K, Kishimoto T, Ito H. IL-6 is required for the development of Th1 cell-mediated murine colitis. J Immunol. 2000 May 1;164(9):4878-82
- 56. Sander LE, Obermeier F, Dierssen U, Kroy DC, Singh AK, Seidler U, Streetz KL, Lutz HH, Muller W, Tacke F, et al. Gp130 signaling promotes development of acute experimental colitis by facilitating early neutrophil/macrophage recruitment and activation. J Immunol. 2008 Sep 1;181(5):3586-94
- 57. Yun UJ, Park SE, Jo YS, Kim J, Shin DY. DNA damage induces the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway, which has anti-senescence and growth-promoting functions in human tumors. Cancer Lett. 2012 Oct 28;323(2):155-60
- Chen Y, Zhang F, Tsai Y, Yang X, Yang L, Duan S, Wang X, Keng P, Lee SO. IL-6 signaling promotes DNA repair and prevents apoptosis in CD133+ stem-like cells of lung cancer after radiation. Radiat.Oncol 2015 Nov 14;10:227.
 PMCID:PMC4647293

- Kuhn KA, Manieri NA, Liu TC, Stappenbeck TS. IL-6 stimulates intestinal epithelial proliferation and repair after injury. PLoS.One. 2014;9(12):e114195.
 PMCID:PMC4257684
- 60. Kakourou A, Koutsioumpa C, Lopez DS, Hoffman-Bolton J, Bradwin G, Rifai N, Helzlsouer KJ, Platz EA, Tsilidis KK. Interleukin-6 and risk of colorectal cancer: results from the CLUE II cohort and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Cancer Causes Control 2015 Oct;26(10):1449-60. PMCID:PMC4763881
- 61. Neta R, Perlstein R, Vogel SN, Ledney GD, Abrams J. Role of interleukin 6 (IL-6) in protection from lethal irradiation and in endocrine responses to IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor. J Exp.Med. 1992 Mar 1;175(3):689-94. PMCID:PMC2119144
- Grivennikov S, Karin E, Terzic J, Mucida D, Yu GY, Vallabhapurapu S, Scheller J,
 Rose-John S, Cheroutre H, Eckmann L, et al. IL-6 and Stat3 are required for
 survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer.
 Cancer Cell 2009 Feb 3;15(2):103-13. PMCID:PMC2667107
- Saini AS, Shenoy GN, Rath S, Bal V, George A. Inducible nitric oxide synthase is a major intermediate in signaling pathways for the survival of plasma cells. Nat.Immunol. 2014 Mar;15(3):275-82
- 64. Wang ZY, Zhang JA, Wu XJ, Liang YF, Lu YB, Gao YC, Dai YC, Yu SY, Jia Y, Fu XX, et al. IL-6 Inhibition Reduces STAT3 Activation and Enhances the Antitumor Effect of Carboplatin. Mediators.Inflamm. 2016;2016:8026494. PMCID:PMC4781984

- 65. Nagasaki T, Hara M, Nakanishi H, Takahashi H, Sato M, Takeyama H. Interleukin-6 released by colon cancer-associated fibroblasts is critical for tumour angiogenesis: anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody suppressed angiogenesis and inhibited tumour-stroma interaction. Br.J.Cancer 2014 Jan 21;110(2):469-78. PMCID:PMC3899773
- 66. Liu H, Ren G, Wang T, Chen Y, Gong C, Bai Y, Wang B, Qi H, Shen J, Zhu L, et al. Aberrantly expressed Fra-1 by IL-6/STAT3 transactivation promotes colorectal cancer aggressiveness through epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Carcinogenesis 2015 Apr;36(4):459-68. PMCID:PMC4392608
- Rokavec M, Oner MG, Li H, Jackstadt R, Jiang L, Lodygin D, Kaller M, Horst D,
 Ziegler PK, Schwitalla S, et al. IL-6R/STAT3/miR-34a feedback loop promotes EMTmediated colorectal cancer invasion and metastasis. J Clin Invest 2014 Apr;124(4):1853-67. PMCID:PMC3973098
- 68. Patel SA, Gooderham NJ. IL6 Mediates Immune and Colorectal Cancer Cell Crosstalk via miR-21 and miR-29b. Mol.Cancer Res. 2015 Nov;13(11):1502-8
- 69. Waldner MJ, Foersch S, Neurath MF. Interleukin-6--a key regulator of colorectal cancer development. Int.J.Biol.Sci. 2012;8(9):1248-53. PMCID:PMC3491448
- 70. Chalaris A, Adam N, Sina C, Rosenstiel P, Lehmann-Koch J, Schirmacher P, Hartmann D, Cichy J, Gavrilova O, Schreiber S, et al. Critical role of the disintegrin

metalloprotease ADAM17 for intestinal inflammation and regeneration in mice. J Exp.Med. 2010 Aug 2;207(8):1617-24. PMCID:PMC2916135

- 71. Horiuchi K, Kimura T, Miyamoto T, Takaishi H, Okada Y, Toyama Y, Blobel CP. Cutting edge: TNF-alpha-converting enzyme (TACE/ADAM17) inactivation in mouse myeloid cells prevents lethality from endotoxin shock. J Immunol. 2007 Sep 1;179(5):2686-9
- 72. Lin Y, Devin A, Rodriguez Y, Liu ZG. Cleavage of the death domain kinase RIP by caspase-8 prompts TNF-induced apoptosis. Genes Dev. 1999 Oct 1;13(19):2514-26. PMCID:PMC317073
- 73. Sun L, Wang H, Wang Z, He S, Chen S, Liao D, Wang L, Yan J, Liu W, Lei X, et al. Mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein mediates necrosis signaling downstream of RIP3 kinase. Cell 2012 Jan 20;148(1-2):213-27
- 74. Cai Z, Jitkaew S, Zhao J, Chiang HC, Choksi S, Liu J, Ward Y, Wu LG, Liu ZG. Plasma membrane translocation of trimerized MLKL protein is required for TNF-induced necroptosis. Nat.Cell Biol. 2014 Jan;16(1):55-65
- 75. Brenner D, Blaser H, Mak TW. Regulation of tumour necrosis factor signalling: live or let die. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2015 Jun;15(6):362-74
- 76. Marques-Fernandez F, Planells-Ferrer L, Gozzelino R, Galenkamp KM, Reix S, Llecha-Cano N, Lopez-Soriano J, Yuste VJ, Moubarak RS, Comella JX. TNFalpha

induces survival through the FLIP-L-dependent activation of the MAPK/ERK pathway. Cell Death.Dis. 2013 Feb 14;4:e493. PMCID:PMC3734812

- 77. Wagner EF, Nebreda AR. Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat.Rev.Cancer 2009 Aug;9(8):537-49
- 78. Piva R, Belardo G, Santoro MG. NF-kappaB: a stress-regulated switch for cell survival. Antioxid.Redox.Signal. 2006 Mar;8(3-4):478-86
- 79. Mizoguchi E, Mizoguchi A, Takedatsu H, Cario E, de Jong YP, Ooi CJ, Xavier RJ, Terhorst C, Podolsky DK, Bhan AK. Role of tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 (TNFR2) in colonic epithelial hyperplasia and chronic intestinal inflammation in mice. Gastroenterology 2002 Jan;122(1):134-44
- 80. Probert L. TNF and its receptors in the CNS: The essential, the desirable and the deleterious effects. Neuroscience 2015 Aug 27;302:2-22
- 81. Chopra M, Riedel SS, Biehl M, Krieger S, von K, V, Bauerlein CA, Brede C, Jordan Garrote AL, Kraus S, Schafer V, et al. Tumor necrosis factor receptor 2-dependent homeostasis of regulatory T cells as a player in TNF-induced experimental metastasis. Carcinogenesis 2013 Jun;34(6):1296-303
- 82. Goretsky T, Dirisina R, Sinh P, Mittal N, Managlia E, Williams DB, Posca D, Ryu H, Katzman RB, Barrett TA. p53 mediates TNF-induced epithelial cell apoptosis in IBD. Am.J Pathol. 2012 Oct;181(4):1306-15. PMCID:PMC3463630

- 83. Corredor J, Yan F, Shen CC, Tong W, John SK, Wilson G, Whitehead R, Polk DB. Tumor necrosis factor regulates intestinal epithelial cell migration by receptordependent mechanisms. Am.J Physiol Cell Physiol 2003 Apr;284(4):C953-C961
- 84. Hubackova S, Kucerova A, Michlits G, Kyjacova L, Reinis M, Korolov O, Bartek J, Hodny Z. IFNgamma induces oxidative stress, DNA damage and tumor cell senescence via TGFbeta/SMAD signaling-dependent induction of Nox4 and suppression of ANT2. Oncogene 2016 Mar 10;35(10):1236-49
- 85. Babu D, Leclercq G, Goossens V, Vanden Berghe T, Van HE, Vandenabeele P, Lefebvre RA. Mitochondria and NADPH oxidases are the major sources of TNFalpha/cycloheximide-induced oxidative stress in murine intestinal epithelial MODE-K cells. Cell Signal. 2015 Jun;27(6):1141-58
- 86. Phong MS, Van Horn RD, Li S, Tucker-Kellogg G, Surana U, Ye XS. p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase promotes cell survival in response to DNA damage but is not required for the G(2) DNA damage checkpoint in human cancer cells. Mol.Cell Biol. 2010 Aug;30(15):3816-26. PMCID:PMC2916406
- 87. Mueller L, von SL, Schumacher J, Goumas F, Wilms C, Braun F, Broering DC. TNFalpha similarly induces IL-6 and MCP-1 in fibroblasts from colorectal liver metastases and normal liver fibroblasts. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2010 Jul 2;397(3):586-91

- 88. Al Obeed OA, Alkhayal KA, Al SA, Zubaidi AM, Vaali-Mohammed MA, Boushey R, Mckerrow JH, Abdulla MH. Increased expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha is associated with advanced colorectal cancer stages. World J Gastroenterol. 2014 Dec 28;20(48):18390-6. PMCID:PMC4277977
- 89. Wu Y, Zhou BP. TNF-alpha/NF-kappaB/Snail pathway in cancer cell migration and invasion. Br.J Cancer 2010 Feb 16;102(4):639-44. PMCID:PMC2837572
- Katerinaki E, Evans GS, Lorigan PC, MacNeil S. TNF-alpha increases human melanoma cell invasion and migration in vitro: the role of proteolytic enzymes.
 Br.J Cancer 2003 Sep 15;89(6):1123-9. PMCID:PMC2376936
- 91. Gupta J, Nebreda AR. Roles of p38alpha mitogen-activated protein kinase in mouse models of inflammatory diseases and cancer. FEBS J 2015 May;282(10):1841-57. PMCID:PMC5006851
- 92. Zarubin T, Han J. Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. Cell Res. 2005 Jan;15(1):11-8
- Bodero AJ, Ye R, Lees-Miller SP. UV-light induces p38 MAPK-dependent phosphorylation of Bcl10. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2003 Feb 21;301(4):923-6
- 94. Lee SH, Park Y, Yoon SK, Yoon JB. Osmotic stress inhibits proteasome by p38
 MAPK-dependent phosphorylation. J Biol.Chem. 2010 Dec 31;285(53):41280-9.
 PMCID:PMC3009853

- 95. Raingeaud J, Gupta S, Rogers JS, Dickens M, Han J, Ulevitch RJ, Davis RJ. Proinflammatory cytokines and environmental stress cause p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by dual phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine. J Biol.Chem. 1995 Mar 31;270(13):7420-6
- 96. Zauberman A, Zipori D, Krupsky M, Ben-Levy R. Stress activated protein kinase
 p38 is involved in IL-6 induced transcriptional activation of STAT3. Oncogene 1999
 Jul 1;18(26):3886-93
- 97. Xing J, Kornhauser JM, Xia Z, Thiele EA, Greenberg ME. Nerve growth factor activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways to stimulate CREB serine 133 phosphorylation. Mol.Cell Biol. 1998 Apr;18(4):1946-55. PMCID:PMC121424
- 98. Matsumoto T, Yokote K, Tamura K, Takemoto M, Ueno H, Saito Y, Mori S. Plateletderived growth factor activates p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase through a Ras-dependent pathway that is important for actin reorganization and cell migration. J Biol.Chem. 1999 May 14;274(20):13954-60
- Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol Rev. 2001 Apr;81(2):807-69

- 100. Bellon S, Fitzgibbon MJ, Fox T, Hsiao HM, Wilson KP. The structure of phosphorylated p38gamma is monomeric and reveals a conserved activation-loop conformation. Structure. 1999 Sep 15;7(9):1057-65
- 101. Canagarajah BJ, Khokhlatchev A, Cobb MH, Goldsmith EJ. Activation mechanism of the MAP kinase ERK2 by dual phosphorylation. Cell 1997 Sep 5;90(5):859-69
- 102. Genovese MC. Inhibition of p38: has the fat lady sung? Arthritis Rheum. 2009 Feb;60(2):317-20
- 103. Genovese MC. Inhibition of p38: has the fat lady sung? Arthritis Rheum. 2009Feb;60(2):317-20
- 104. Ma XL, Kumar S, Gao F, Louden CS, Lopez BL, Christopher TA, Wang C, Lee JC, Feuerstein GZ, Yue TL. Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase decreases cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improves cardiac function after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. Circulation 1999 Apr 6;99(13):1685-91
- 105. Marber MS, Molkentin JD, Force T. Developing small molecules to inhibit kinases unkind to the heart: p38 MAPK as a case in point. Drug Discov.Today Dis.Mech. 2010;7(2):e123-e127. PMCID:PMC3026592
- 106. Lee JC, Kumar S, Griswold DE, Underwood DC, Votta BJ, Adams JL. Inhibition of
 p38 MAP kinase as a therapeutic strategy. Immunopharmacology 2000 May;47(2-3):185-201

- 107. Campbell RM, Anderson BD, Brooks NA, Brooks HB, Chan EM, De DA, Gilmour R, Graff JR, Jambrina E, Mader M, et al. Characterization of LY2228820 dimesylate, a potent and selective inhibitor of p38 MAPK with antitumor activity. Mol.Cancer Ther. 2014 Feb;13(2):364-74
- 108. Genovese MC, Cohen SB, Wofsy D, Weinblatt ME, Firestein GS, Brahn E, Strand V, Baker DG, Tong SE. A 24-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel group study of the efficacy of oral SCIO-469, a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor, in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2011 May;38(5):846-54
- 109. Genovese MC, Cohen SB, Wofsy D, Weinblatt ME, Firestein GS, Brahn E, Strand V, Baker DG, Tong SE. A 24-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel group study of the efficacy of oral SCIO-469, a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor, in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2011 May;38(5):846-54
- 110. Newby LK, Marber MS, Melloni C, Sarov-Blat L, Aberle LH, Aylward PE, Cai G, de Winter RJ, Hamm CW, Heitner JF, et al. Losmapimod, a novel p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase inhibitor, in non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a randomised phase 2 trial. Lancet 2014 Sep 27;384(9949):1187-95
- 111. Xing L. Clinical candidates of small molecule p38 MAPK inhibitors for inflammatory diseases. MAP Kinase 4[5508], 24-30. 2015.

- 112. Gupta J, del BB, I, Igea A, Sakellariou S, Pateras IS, Gorgoulis VG, Nebreda AR. Dual function of p38alpha MAPK in colon cancer: suppression of colitis-associated tumor initiation but requirement for cancer cell survival. Cancer Cell 2014 Apr 14;25(4):484-500
- 113. Hammaker D, Firestein GS. "Go upstream, young man": lessons learned from the p38 saga. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2010 Jan;69 Suppl 1:i77-i82. PMCID:PMC2911016
- 114. Lukas SM, Kroe RR, Wildeson J, Peet GW, Frego L, Davidson W, Ingraham RH, Pargellis CA, Labadia ME, Werneburg BG. Catalysis and function of the p38 alpha.MK2a signaling complex. Biochemistry 2004 Aug 10;43(31):9950-60
- 115. ter HE, Prabhakar P, Liu X, Lepre C. Crystal structure of the p38 alpha-MAPKAP kinase 2 heterodimer. J Biol.Chem. 2007 Mar 30;282(13):9733-9
- 116. Ben-Levy R, Leighton IA, Doza YN, Attwood P, Morrice N, Marshall CJ, Cohen P. Identification of novel phosphorylation sites required for activation of MAPKAP kinase-2. EMBO J 1995 Dec 1;14(23):5920-30. PMCID:PMC394711
- 117. Tokunaga Y, Takeuchi K, Takahashi H, Shimada I. Allosteric enhancement of MAP kinase p38alpha's activity and substrate selectivity by docking interactions. Nat.Struct.Mol.Biol. 2014 Aug;21(8):704-11

- 118. Engel K, Kotlyarov A, Gaestel M. Leptomycin B-sensitive nuclear export of MAPKAP kinase 2 is regulated by phosphorylation. EMBO J 1998 Jun 15;17(12):3363-71. PMCID:PMC1170674
- 119. Shi JX, Su X, Xu J, Zhang WY, Shi Y. MK2 posttranscriptionally regulates TNF-alphainduced expression of ICAM-1 and IL-8 via tristetraprolin in human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells. Am.J Physiol Lung Cell Mol.Physiol 2012 Apr 15;302(8):L793-L799
- Sanduja S, Blanco FF, Dixon DA. The roles of TTP and BRF proteins in regulated mRNA decay. Wiley.Interdiscip.Rev.RNA. 2011 Jan;2(1):42-57.
 PMCID:PMC3030256
- 121. Wu T, Shi JX, Geng S, Zhou W, Shi Y, Su X. The MK2/HuR signaling pathway regulates TNF-alpha-induced ICAM-1 expression by promoting the stabilization of ICAM-1 mRNA. BMC.Pulm.Med. 2016 May 23;16(1):84. PMCID:PMC4877999
- 122. Rousseau S, Morrice N, Peggie M, Campbell DG, Gaestel M, Cohen P. Inhibition of SAPK2a/p38 prevents hnRNP A0 phosphorylation by MAPKAP-K2 and its interaction with cytokine mRNAs. EMBO J 2002 Dec 2;21(23):6505-14. PMCID:PMC136943
- 123. Tchen CR, Brook M, Saklatvala J, Clark AR. The stability of tristetraprolin mRNA is regulated by mitogen-activated protein kinase p38 and by tristetraprolin itself. J Biol.Chem. 2004 Jul 30;279(31):32393-400

- Murray PJ, Smale ST. Restraint of inflammatory signaling by interdependent strata of negative regulatory pathways. Nat.Immunol. 2012 Oct;13(10):916-24.
 PMCID:PMC4893774
- 125. Neininger A, Kontoyiannis D, Kotlyarov A, Winzen R, Eckert R, Volk HD, Holtmann H, Kollias G, Gaestel M. MK2 targets AU-rich elements and regulates biosynthesis of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 independently at different posttranscriptional levels. J Biol.Chem. 2002 Feb 1;277(5):3065-8
- 126. Wang X, Wu H, Miller AH. Interleukin 1alpha (IL-1alpha) induced activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibits glucocorticoid receptor function.
 Mol.Psychiatry 2004 Jan;9(1):65-75
- 127. Legrand-Poels S, Schoonbroodt S, Piette J. Regulation of interleukin-6 gene expression by pro-inflammatory cytokines in a colon cancer cell line. Biochem.J
 2000 Aug 1;349 Pt 3:765-73. PMCID:PMC1221203
- 128. Fernando MR, Reyes JL, Iannuzzi J, Leung G, McKay DM. The pro-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-6, enhances the polarization of alternatively activated macrophages. PLoS.One. 2014;9(4):e94188. PMCID:PMC3988054
- 129. Kutsch CL, Norris DA, Arend WP. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces interleukin-1 alpha and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist production by cultured human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol. 1993 Jul;101(1):79-85

- 130. Ikejima T, Okusawa S, Ghezzi P, van der Meer JW, Dinarello CA. Interleukin-1 induces tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in vitro and a circulating TNF-like activity in rabbits. J Infect.Dis. 1990 Jul;162(1):215-23
- 131. Turner NA, Mughal RS, Warburton P, O'Regan DJ, Ball SG, Porter KE. Mechanism of TNFalpha-induced IL-1alpha, IL-1beta and IL-6 expression in human cardiac fibroblasts: effects of statins and thiazolidinediones. Cardiovasc.Res. 2007 Oct 1;76(1):81-90
- Samulin EJ, Skaug V, Haugen A, Zienolddiny S. Loss of MKK3 and MK2 Copy
 Numbers in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Cancer 2016;7(5):512-5.
 PMCID:PMC4780126
- 133. Liu B, Yang L, Huang B, Cheng M, Wang H, Li Y, Huang D, Zheng J, Li Q, Zhang X, et al. A functional copy-number variation in MAPKAPK2 predicts risk and prognosis of lung cancer. Am.J Hum.Genet. 2012 Aug 10;91(2):384-90. PMCID:PMC3415537
- 134. Kuramitsu Y, Wang Y, Kitagawa T, Tokuda K, Akada J, Tokunaga M, Nakamura K. High-mobility Group Box 1 and Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase activated Protein Kinase-2 Are Up-regulated in Gemcitabine-resistant Pancreatic Cancer Cells. Anticancer Res. 2015 Jul;35(7):3861-5

- 135. Liu B, Yang L, Huang B, Cheng M, Wang H, Li Y, Huang D, Zheng J, Li Q, Zhang X, et al. A functional copy-number variation in MAPKAPK2 predicts risk and prognosis of lung cancer. Am.J Hum.Genet. 2012 Aug 10;91(2):384-90. PMCID:PMC3415537
- 136. Nguyen Ho-Bouldoires TH, Claperon A, Mergey M, Wendum D, Desbois-Mouthon C, Tahraoui S, Fartoux L, Chettouh H, Merabtene F, Scatton O, et al. Mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 mediates resistance to hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress in human hepatobiliary cancer cells. Free Radic.Biol.Med. 2015 Dec;89:34-46
- 137. Girnius N, Davis RJ. TNFalpha-Mediated Cytotoxic Responses to IAP Inhibition Are Limited by the p38alpha MAPK Pathway. Cancer Cell 2016 Feb 8;29(2):131-3
- Boucas J, Fritz C, Schmitt A, Riabinska A, Thelen L, Peifer M, Leeser U, Nuernberg P, Altmueller J, Gaestel M, et al. Label-Free Protein-RNA Interactome Analysis
 Identifies Khsrp Signaling Downstream of the p38/Mk2 Kinase Complex as a
 Critical Modulator of Cell Cycle Progression. PLoS.One. 2015;10(5):e0125745.
 PMCID:PMC4439058
- Gurgis FM, Yeung YT, Tang MX, Heng B, Buckland M, Ammit AJ, Haapasalo J,
 Haapasalo H, Guillemin GJ, Grewal T, et al. The p38-MK2-HuR pathway
 potentiates EGFRvIII-IL-1beta-driven IL-6 secretion in glioblastoma cells.
 Oncogene 2015 May 28;34(22):2934-42

- 140. Johansen C, Vestergaard C, Kragballe K, Kollias G, Gaestel M, Iversen L. MK2 regulates the early stages of skin tumor promotion. Carcinogenesis 2009 Dec;30(12):2100-8
- 141. Bain CC, Scott CL, Uronen-Hansson H, Gudjonsson S, Jansson O, Grip O, Guilliams M, Malissen B, Agace WW, Mowat AM. Resident and pro-inflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors. Mucosal.Immunol. 2013 May;6(3):498-510. PMCID:PMC3629381
- 142. Rivollier A, He J, Kole A, Valatas V, Kelsall BL. Inflammation switches the differentiation program of Ly6Chi monocytes from antiinflammatory macrophages to inflammatory dendritic cells in the colon. J Exp.Med. 2012 Jan 16;209(1):139-55. PMCID:PMC3260867
- 143. Zigmond E, Varol C, Farache J, Elmaliah E, Satpathy AT, Friedlander G, Mack M, Shpigel N, Boneca IG, Murphy KM, et al. Ly6C hi monocytes in the inflamed colon give rise to proinflammatory effector cells and migratory antigen-presenting cells. Immunity. 2012 Dec 14;37(6):1076-90
- 144. Gross M, Salame TM, Jung S. Guardians of the Gut Murine IntestinalMacrophages and Dendritic Cells. Front Immunol. 2015;6:254.PMCID:PMC4451680
- 145. Zigmond E, Jung S. Intestinal macrophages: well educated exceptions from the rule. Trends Immunol. 2013 Apr;34(4):162-8
- 146. Li B, Alli R, Vogel P, Geiger TL. IL-10 modulates DSS-induced colitis through a macrophage-ROS-NO axis. Mucosal.Immunol. 2014 Jul;7(4):869-78.
 PMCID:PMC4045662
- 147. Takada Y, Hisamatsu T, Kamada N, Kitazume MT, Honda H, Oshima Y, Saito R, Takayama T, Kobayashi T, Chinen H, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 contributes to gut homeostasis and intestinal inflammation by composition of IL-10-producing regulatory macrophage subset. J Immunol. 2010 Mar 1;184(5):2671-6
- 148. Ohkawara T, Mitsuyama K, Takeda H, Asaka M, Fujiyama Y, Nishihira J. Lack of macrophage migration inhibitory factor suppresses innate immune response in murine dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. Scand.J Gastroenterol. 2008;43(12):1497-504
- 149. Sierra-Filardi E, Nieto C, Dominguez-Soto A, Barroso R, Sanchez-Mateos P, Puig-Kroger A, Lopez-Bravo M, Joven J, Ardavin C, Rodriguez-Fernandez JL, et al. CCL2 shapes macrophage polarization by GM-CSF and M-CSF: identification of CCL2/CCR2-dependent gene expression profile. J Immunol. 2014 Apr 15;192(8):3858-67

- 150. Spoettl T, Hausmann M, Herlyn M, Gunckel M, Dirmeier A, Falk W, Herfarth H, Schoelmerich J, Rogler G. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) inhibits the intestinal-like differentiation of monocytes. Clin Exp.Immunol. 2006 Jul;145(1):190-9. PMCID:PMC1942009
- 151. Limbourg A, von FJ, Jagavelu K, Krishnasamy K, Napp LC, Kapopara PR, Gaestel M, Schieffer B, Bauersachs J, Limbourg FP, et al. MAP-Kinase Activated Protein Kinase
 2 Links Endothelial Activation and Monocyte/macrophage Recruitment in Arteriogenesis. PLoS.One. 2015;10(10):e0138542. PMCID:PMC4592267
- 152. Pender SL, Chance V, Whiting CV, Buckley M, Edwards M, Pettipher R, MacDonald TT. Systemic administration of the chemokine macrophage inflammatory protein 1alpha exacerbates inflammatory bowel disease in a mouse model. Gut 2005 Aug;54(8):1114-20. PMCID:PMC1774881
- 153. Ohtsuka Y, Lee J, Stamm DS, Sanderson IR. MIP-2 secreted by epithelial cells increases neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment in the mouse intestine. Gut 2001 Oct;49(4):526-33. PMCID:PMC1728474
- 154. Kotlyarov A, Yannoni Y, Fritz S, Laass K, Telliez JB, Pitman D, Lin LL, Gaestel M.
 Distinct cellular functions of MK2. Mol.Cell Biol. 2002 Jul;22(13):4827-35.
 PMCID:PMC133920
- 155. Rosenberg DW, Giardina C, Tanaka T. Mouse models for the study of colon carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 2009 Feb;30(2):183-96. PMCID:PMC2639048

- 156. Neufert C, Becker C, Neurath MF. An inducible mouse model of colon carcinogenesis for the analysis of sporadic and inflammation-driven tumor progression. Nat.Protoc. 2007;2(8):1998-2004
- 157. Neufert C, Becker C, Neurath MF. An inducible mouse model of colon carcinogenesis for the analysis of sporadic and inflammation-driven tumor progression. Nat.Protoc. 2007;2(8):1998-2004
- 158. Takahashi M, Wakabayashi K. Gene mutations and altered gene expression in azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in rodents. Cancer Sci. 2004 Jun;95(6):475-80
- 159. Takahashi M, Nakatsugi S, Sugimura T, Wakabayashi K. Frequent mutations of the beta-catenin gene in mouse colon tumors induced by azoxymethane. Carcinogenesis 2000 Jun;21(6):1117-20
- 160. Wang D, DuBois RN. The role of COX-2 in intestinal inflammation and colorectal cancer. Oncogene 2010 Feb 11;29(6):781-8. PMCID:PMC3181054
- 161. Gupta RA, DuBois RN. Colorectal cancer prevention and treatment by inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2. Nat.Rev.Cancer 2001 Oct;1(1):11-21
- 162. Xiao W, Nowak M, Laferte S, Fontanie T. Mutagenicity and toxicity of the DNA alkylation carcinogens 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and azoxymethane in Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium. Mutagenesis 1996 May;11(3):241-5

- 163. Chassaing B, Aitken JD, Malleshappa M, Vijay-Kumar M. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice. Curr.Protoc.Immunol. 2014 Feb 4;104:Unit.
 PMCID:PMC3980572
- 164. Araki Y, Bamba T, Mukaisho K, Kanauchi O, Ban H, Bamba S, Andoh A, Fujiyama Y, Hattori T, Sugihara H. Dextran sulfate sodium administered orally is depolymerized in the stomach and induces cell cycle arrest plus apoptosis in the colon in early mouse colitis. Oncol.Rep. 2012 Nov;28(5):1597-605
- Akao T, Oyanagi Y, Shiotsuki S, Ishii Y, Sasahara M. Metabolism of dextran sulfate sodium by intestinal bacteria in rat cecum is related to induction of colitis.
 Biol.Pharm.Bull. 2015;38(4):566-70
- 166. Laroui H, Ingersoll SA, Liu HC, Baker MT, Ayyadurai S, Charania MA, Laroui F, Yan Y, Sitaraman SV, Merlin D. Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induces colitis in mice by forming nano-lipocomplexes with medium-chain-length fatty acids in the colon. PLoS.One. 2012;7(3):e32084. PMCID:PMC3302894
- 167. Hans W, Scholmerich J, Gross V, Falk W. The role of the resident intestinal flora in acute and chronic dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice.
 Eur.J.Gastroenterol.Hepatol. 2000 Mar;12(3):267-73
- 168. Nakanishi Y, Sato T, Ohteki T. Commensal Gram-positive bacteria initiates colitis by inducing monocyte/macrophage mobilization. Mucosal.Immunol. 2015 Jan;8(1):152-60

- 169. Cooper HS, Murthy S, Kido K, Yoshitake H, Flanigan A. Dysplasia and cancer in the dextran sulfate sodium mouse colitis model. Relevance to colitis-associated neoplasia in the human: a study of histopathology, B-catenin and p53 expression and the role of inflammation. Carcinogenesis 2000 Apr;21(4):757-68
- 170. Perse M, Cerar A. Dextran sodium sulphate colitis mouse model: traps and tricks.J.Biomed.Biotechnol. 2012;2012:718617. PMCID:PMC3361365
- 171. Parang B, Barrett CW, Williams CS. AOM/DSS Model of Colitis-Associated Cancer. Methods Mol.Biol. 2016;1422:297-307. PMCID:PMC5035391
- 172. De RM, Massi E, Poeta ML, Carotti S, Morini S, Cecchetelli L, Signori E, Fazio VM.
 The AOM/DSS murine model for the study of colon carcinogenesis: From
 pathways to diagnosis and therapy studies. J.Carcinog. 2011 Mar 24;10:9.
 PMCID:PMC3072657
- 173. Amend SR, Valkenburg KC, Pienta KJ. Murine Hind Limb Long Bone Dissection and Bone Marrow Isolation. J.Vis.Exp. 2016 Apr 14;(110). PMCID:PMC4941920
- 174. Zhang X, Goncalves R, Mosser DM. The isolation and characterization of murine macrophages. Curr.Protoc.Immunol. 2008 Nov;Chapter 14:Unit.
 PMCID:PMC2834554
- 175. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics for Hispanics/Latinos, 2012. CA Cancer J.Clin. 2012 Sep;62(5):283-98

- 176. Dyson JK, Rutter MD. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease: what is the real magnitude of the risk? World J.Gastroenterol. 2012 Aug 7;18(29):3839-48. PMCID:PMC3413056
- 177. Feng YJ, Li YY. The role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. J.Dig.Dis. 2011 Oct;12(5):327-32
- 178. Genovese MC. Inhibition of p38: has the fat lady sung? Arthritis Rheum. 2009 Feb;60(2):317-20
- 179. Xu JJ, Hendriks BS, Zhao J, de GD. Multiple effects of acetaminophen and p38 inhibitors: towards pathway toxicology. FEBS Lett. 2008 Apr 9;582(8):1276-82
- 180. Morris DL, O'Neil SP, Devraj RV, Portanova JP, Gilles RW, Gross CJ, Curtiss SW, Komocsar WJ, Garner DS, Happa FA, et al. Acute lymphoid and gastrointestinal toxicity induced by selective p38alpha map kinase and map kinase-activated protein kinase-2 (MK2) inhibitors in the dog. Toxicol.Pathol. 2010 Jun;38(4):606-18
- 181. Seimon TA, Wang Y, Han S, Senokuchi T, Schrijvers DM, Kuriakose G, Tall AR, Tabas IA. Macrophage deficiency of p38alpha MAPK promotes apoptosis and plaque necrosis in advanced atherosclerotic lesions in mice. J.Clin.Invest 2009 Apr;119(4):886-98. PMCID:PMC2662559
- 182. Garlanda C, Riva F, Veliz T, Polentarutti N, Pasqualini F, Radaelli E, Sironi M, Nebuloni M, Zorini EO, Scanziani E, et al. Increased susceptibility to colitis-

associated cancer of mice lacking TIR8, an inhibitory member of the interleukin-1 receptor family. Cancer Res. 2007 Jul 1;67(13):6017-21

- 183. Grivennikov S, Karin E, Terzic J, Mucida D, Yu GY, Vallabhapurapu S, Scheller J, Rose-John S, Cheroutre H, Eckmann L, et al. IL-6 and Stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer. Cancer Cell 2009 Feb 3;15(2):103-13. PMCID:PMC2667107
- 184. Mantovani A. Molecular pathways linking inflammation and cancer.Curr.Mol.Med. 2010 Jun;10(4):369-73
- Steinbach EC, Plevy SE. The role of macrophages and dendritic cells in the initiation of inflammation in IBD. Inflamm.Bowel.Dis. 2014 Jan;20(1):166-75.
 PMCID:PMC4098861
- 186. Johansen C, Vestergaard C, Kragballe K, Kollias G, Gaestel M, Iversen L. MK2 regulates the early stages of skin tumor promotion. Carcinogenesis 2009 Dec;30(12):2100-8
- 187. Guven ME, Keskin O, Gursoy A, Nussinov R. The structural network of inflammation and cancer: merits and challenges. Semin.Cancer Biol. 2013 Aug;23(4):243-51
- Strober W, Fuss IJ. Proinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 2011 May;140(6):1756-67.
 PMCID:PMC3773507

- 189. Ronkina N, Kotlyarov A, Dittrich-Breiholz O, Kracht M, Hitti E, Milarski K, Askew R, Marusic S, Lin LL, Gaestel M, et al. The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)activated protein kinases MK2 and MK3 cooperate in stimulation of tumor necrosis factor biosynthesis and stabilization of p38 MAPK. Mol.Cell Biol. 2007 Jan;27(1):170-81. PMCID:PMC1800641
- 190. Tietz AB, Malo A, Diebold J, Kotlyarov A, Herbst A, Kolligs FT, Brandt-Nedelev B,
 Halangk W, Gaestel M, Goke B, et al. Gene deletion of MK2 inhibits TNF-alpha and
 IL-6 and protects against cerulein-induced pancreatitis. Am.J.Physiol
 Gastrointest.Liver Physiol 2006 Jun;290(6):G1298-G1306
- 191. Tietz AB, Malo A, Diebold J, Kotlyarov A, Herbst A, Kolligs FT, Brandt-Nedelev B,
 Halangk W, Gaestel M, Goke B, et al. Gene deletion of MK2 inhibits TNF-alpha and
 IL-6 and protects against cerulein-induced pancreatitis. Am.J Physiol
 Gastrointest.Liver Physiol 2006 Jun;290(6):G1298-G1306
- 192. Randall KJ, Turton J, Foster JR. Explant culture of gastrointestinal tissue: a review of methods and applications. Cell Biol.Toxicol. 2011 Aug;27(4):267-84
- 193. Sheikh SZ, Matsuoka K, Kobayashi T, Li F, Rubinas T, Plevy SE. Cutting edge: IFNgamma is a negative regulator of IL-23 in murine macrophages and experimental colitis. J.Immunol. 2010 Apr 15;184(8):4069-73. PMCID:PMC2956738
- 194. Francisco-Cruz A, Aguilar-Santelises M, Ramos-Espinosa O, Mata-Espinosa D, Marquina-Castillo B, Barrios-Payan J, Hernandez-Pando R. Granulocyte-

macrophage colony-stimulating factor: not just another haematopoietic growth factor. Med.Oncol. 2014 Jan;31(1):774

- 195. Zhang J, Patel L, Pienta KJ. CC chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) promotes prostate cancer tumorigenesis and metastasis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2010 Feb;21(1):41-8. PMCID:PMC2857769
- 196. Katoh H, Wang D, Daikoku T, Sun H, Dey SK, Dubois RN. CXCR2-expressing myeloid-derived suppressor cells are essential to promote colitis-associated tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell 2013 Nov 11;24(5):631-44. PMCID:PMC3928012
- 197. Ichikawa M, Williams R, Wang L, Vogl T, Srikrishna G. S100A8/A9 activate key genes and pathways in colon tumor progression. Mol.Cancer Res. 2011 Feb;9(2):133-48. PMCID:PMC3078037
- 198. Rubin DC, Shaker A, Levin MS. Chronic intestinal inflammation: inflammatory bowel disease and colitis-associated colon cancer. Front Immunol. 2012;3:107.
 PMCID:PMC3347037
- 199. Freeman HJ. Colorectal cancer risk in Crohn's disease. World J.Gastroenterol.2008 Mar 28;14(12):1810-1. PMCID:PMC2700422
- 200. Dulai PS, Sandborn WJ, Gupta S. Colorectal Cancer and Dysplasia in Inflammatory
 Bowel Disease: A Review of Disease Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and
 Management. Cancer Prev.Res.(Phila) 2016 Dec;9(12):887-94.
 PMCID:PMC5289746

- 201. Andersen NN, Jess T. Has the risk of colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel disease decreased? World J.Gastroenterol. 2013 Nov 21;19(43):7561-8.
 PMCID:PMC3837254
- 202. Larsen M, Mose H, Gislum M, Skriver MV, Jepsen P, Norgard B, Sorensen HT. Survival after colorectal cancer in patients with Crohn's disease: A nationwide population-based Danish follow-up study. Am.J.Gastroenterol. 2007 Jan;102(1):163-7
- 203. Sharma R, Zucknick M, London R, Kacevska M, Liddle C, Clarke SJ. Systemic inflammatory response predicts prognosis in patients with advanced-stage colorectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2008 Sep;7(5):331-7
- 204. Zarubin T, Han J. Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. Cell Res. 2005 Jan;15(1):11-8
- 205. Casanovas O, Jaumot M, Paules AB, Agell N, Bachs O. P38SAPK2 phosphorylates cyclin D3 at Thr-283 and targets it for proteasomal degradation. Oncogene 2004 Sep 30;23(45):7537-44
- 206. Bai XL, Zhang Q, Ye LY, Liang F, Sun X, Chen Y, Hu QD, Fu QH, Su W, Chen Z, et al. Myocyte enhancer factor 2C regulation of hepatocellular carcinoma via vascular endothelial growth factor and Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Oncogene 2015 Jul 30;34(31):4089-97

- 207. Koul HK, Pal M, Koul S. Role of p38 MAP Kinase Signal Transduction in Solid Tumors. Genes Cancer 2013 Sep;4(9-10):342-59. PMCID:PMC3863344
- 208. Arthur JS, Ley SC. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in innate immunity. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2013 Sep;13(9):679-92
- 209. Tietz AB, Malo A, Diebold J, Kotlyarov A, Herbst A, Kolligs FT, Brandt-Nedelev B, Halangk W, Gaestel M, Goke B, et al. Gene deletion of MK2 inhibits TNF-alpha and IL-6 and protects against cerulein-induced pancreatitis. Am.J Physiol Gastrointest.Liver Physiol 2006 Jun;290(6):G1298-G1306
- 210. Tiedje C, Ronkina N, Tehrani M, Dhamija S, Laass K, Holtmann H, Kotlyarov A, Gaestel M. The p38/MK2-driven exchange between tristetraprolin and HuR regulates AU-rich element-dependent translation. PLoS.Genet. 2012 Sep;8(9):e1002977. PMCID:PMC3459988
- 211. Winzen R, Gowrishankar G, Bollig F, Redich N, Resch K, Holtmann H. Distinct domains of AU-rich elements exert different functions in mRNA destabilization and stabilization by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase or HuR. Mol.Cell Biol. 2004 Jun;24(11):4835-47. PMCID:PMC416423
- 212. Wu T, Shi JX, Geng S, Zhou W, Shi Y, Su X. The MK2/HuR signaling pathway regulates TNF-alpha-induced ICAM-1 expression by promoting the stabilization of ICAM-1 mRNA. BMC.Pulm.Med. 2016 May 23;16(1):84. PMCID:PMC4877999

- 213. Al Obeed OA, Alkhayal KA, Al SA, Zubaidi AM, Vaali-Mohammed MA, Boushey R, Mckerrow JH, Abdulla MH. Increased expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha is associated with advanced colorectal cancer stages. World J Gastroenterol. 2014 Dec 28;20(48):18390-6. PMCID:PMC4277977
- Maihofner C, Charalambous MP, Bhambra U, Lightfoot T, Geisslinger G,
 Gooderham NJ. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 parallels expression of
 interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6 and NF-kappaB in human colorectal cancer.
 Carcinogenesis 2003 Apr;24(4):665-71
- 215. Bauer C, Duewell P, Mayer C, Lehr HA, Fitzgerald KA, Dauer M, Tschopp J, Endres S, Latz E, Schnurr M. Colitis induced in mice with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) is mediated by the NLRP3 inflammasome. Gut 2010 Sep;59(9):1192-9
- 216. Voronov E, Apte RN. IL-1 in Colon Inflammation, Colon Carcinogenesis and Invasiveness of Colon Cancer. Cancer Microenviron. 2015 Dec;8(3):187-200.
 PMCID:PMC4715003
- 217. Wang Y, Wang K, Han GC, Wang RX, Xiao H, Hou CM, Guo RF, Dou Y, Shen BF, Li Y, et al. Neutrophil infiltration favors colitis-associated tumorigenesis by activating the interleukin-1 (IL-1)/IL-6 axis. Mucosal.Immunol. 2014 Sep;7(5):1106-15
- 218. Kaler P, Augenlicht L, Klampfer L. Macrophage-derived IL-1beta stimulates Wnt signaling and growth of colon cancer cells: a crosstalk interrupted by vitamin D3. Oncogene 2009 Nov 5;28(44):3892-902. PMCID:PMC2783659

- 219. Hunter CA, Jones SA. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat.Immunol. 2015 May;16(5):448-57
- 220. Tosato G, Jones KD. Interleukin-1 induces interleukin-6 production in peripheral blood monocytes. Blood 1990 Mar 15;75(6):1305-10
- 221. Parikh AA, Moon MR, Kane CD, Salzman AL, Fischer JE, Hasselgren PO. Interleukin-6 production in human intestinal epithelial cells increases in association with the heat shock response. J.Surg.Res. 1998 Jun;77(1):40-4
- 222. Nagasaki T, Hara M, Nakanishi H, Takahashi H, Sato M, Takeyama H. Interleukin-6 released by colon cancer-associated fibroblasts is critical for tumour angiogenesis: anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody suppressed angiogenesis and inhibited tumour-stroma interaction. Br.J.Cancer 2014 Jan 21;110(2):469-78. PMCID:PMC3899773
- 223. Wang Z, Wu P, Wu D, Zhang Z, Hu G, Zhao S, Lai Y, Huang J. Prognostic and clinicopathological significance of serum interleukin-6 expression in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Onco.Targets.Ther. 2015;8:3793-801. PMCID:PMC4689272
- 224. Waldner MJ, Foersch S, Neurath MF. Interleukin-6--a key regulator of colorectal cancer development. Int.J.Biol.Sci. 2012;8(9):1248-53. PMCID:PMC3491448
- 225. Teng Y, Ross JL, Cowell JK. The involvement of JAK-STAT3 in cell motility, invasion, and metastasis. JAKSTAT. 2014 Jan 1;3(1):e28086. PMCID:PMC3995737

- 226. Masoud GN, Li W. HIF-1alpha pathway: role, regulation and intervention for cancer therapy. Acta Pharm.Sin.B 2015 Sep;5(5):378-89. PMCID:PMC4629436
- 227. Grivennikov S, Karin E, Terzic J, Mucida D, Yu GY, Vallabhapurapu S, Scheller J, Rose-John S, Cheroutre H, Eckmann L, et al. IL-6 and Stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer. Cancer Cell 2009 Feb 3;15(2):103-13. PMCID:PMC2667107
- 228. Ikejima T, Okusawa S, Ghezzi P, van der Meer JW, Dinarello CA. Interleukin-1 induces tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells in vitro and a circulating TNF-like activity in rabbits. J.Infect.Dis. 1990 Jul;162(1):215-23
- 229. Flores MB, Rocha GZ, Damas-Souza DM, Osorio-Costa F, Dias MM, Ropelle ER, Camargo JA, de Carvalho RB, Carvalho HF, Saad MJ, et al. Obesity-induced increase in tumor necrosis factor-alpha leads to development of colon cancer in mice. Gastroenterology 2012 Sep;143(3):741-53
- 230. Mueller L, von SL, Schumacher J, Goumas F, Wilms C, Braun F, Broering DC. TNFalpha similarly induces IL-6 and MCP-1 in fibroblasts from colorectal liver metastases and normal liver fibroblasts. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2010 Jul 2;397(3):586-91
- 231. Zins K, Abraham D, Sioud M, Aharinejad S. Colon cancer cell-derived tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates the tumor growth-promoting response in

macrophages by up-regulating the colony-stimulating factor-1 pathway. Cancer Res. 2007 Feb 1;67(3):1038-45

- 232. De S, V, Franze E, Ronchetti G, Colantoni A, Fantini MC, Di FD, Sica GS, Sileri P, MacDonald TT, Pallone F, et al. Th17-type cytokines, IL-6 and TNF-alpha synergistically activate STAT3 and NF-kB to promote colorectal cancer cell growth. Oncogene 2015 Jul;34(27):3493-503. PMCID:PMC4493653
- 233. Popivanova BK, Kitamura K, Wu Y, Kondo T, Kagaya T, Kaneko S, Oshima M, Fujii C, Mukaida N. Blocking TNF-alpha in mice reduces colorectal carcinogenesis associated with chronic colitis. J.Clin.Invest 2008 Feb;118(2):560-70.
 PMCID:PMC2213370
- 234. Popivanova BK, Kitamura K, Wu Y, Kondo T, Kagaya T, Kaneko S, Oshima M, Fujii C, Mukaida N. Blocking TNF-alpha in mice reduces colorectal carcinogenesis associated with chronic colitis. J.Clin.Invest 2008 Feb;118(2):560-70.
 PMCID:PMC2213370
- 235. Dinarello CA. Why not treat human cancer with interleukin-1 blockade? Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2010 Jun;29(2):317-29. PMCID:PMC2865633
- 236. Ray AL, Castillo EF, Morris KT, Nofchissey RA, Weston LL, Samedi VG, Hanson JA, Gaestel M, Pinchuk IV, Beswick EJ. Blockade of MK2 is protective in inflammationassociated colorectal cancer development. Int.J.Cancer 2016 Feb 1;138(3):770-5. PMCID:PMC4715542

- 237. Morris KT, Castillo EF, Ray AL, Weston LL, Nofchissey RA, Hanson JA, Samedi VG, Pinchuk IV, Hudson LG, Beswick EJ. Anti-G-CSF treatment induces protective tumor immunity in mouse colon cancer by promoting protective NK cell, macrophage and T cell responses. Oncotarget. 2015 Sep 8;6(26):22338-47. PMCID:PMC4673167
- 238. Kotlyarov A, Neininger A, Schubert C, Eckert R, Birchmeier C, Volk HD, Gaestel M.
 MAPKAP kinase 2 is essential for LPS-induced TNF-alpha biosynthesis. Nat.Cell
 Biol. 1999 Jun;1(2):94-7
- 239. Furukawa S, Soeda S, Kiko Y, Suzuki O, Hashimoto Y, Watanabe T, Nishiyama H, Tasaki K, Hojo H, Abe M, et al. MCP-1 promotes invasion and adhesion of human ovarian cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 2013 Nov;33(11):4785-90
- 240. Hsu CJ, Wu MH, Chen CY, Tsai CH, Hsu HC, Tang CH. AMP-activated protein kinase activation mediates CCL3-induced cell migration and matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in human chondrosarcoma. Cell Commun.Signal. 2013 Sep 18;11:68. PMCID:PMC3851317
- 241. Uguccioni M, D'Apuzzo M, Loetscher M, Dewald B, Baggiolini M. Actions of the chemotactic cytokines MCP-1, MCP-2, MCP-3, RANTES, MIP-1 alpha and MIP-1 beta on human monocytes. Eur.J Immunol. 1995 Jan;25(1):64-8
- 242. Green CE, Liu T, Montel V, Hsiao G, Lester RD, Subramaniam S, Gonias SL, Klemke RL. Chemoattractant signaling between tumor cells and macrophages regulates

cancer cell migration, metastasis and neovascularization. PLoS.One. 2009 Aug 21;4(8):e6713. PMCID:PMC2725301

- 243. Lalaoui N, Hanggi K, Brumatti G, Chau D, Nguyen NN, Vasilikos L, Spilgies LM, Heckmann DA, Ma C, Ghisi M, et al. Targeting p38 or MK2 Enhances the Anti-Leukemic Activity of Smac-Mimetics. Cancer Cell 2016 Sep 12;30(3):499-500
- 244. Dietlein F, Kalb B, Jokic M, Noll EM, Strong A, Tharun L, Ozretic L, Kunstlinger H, Kambartel K, Randerath WJ, et al. A Synergistic Interaction between Chk1- and MK2 Inhibitors in KRAS-Mutant Cancer. Cell 2015 Jul 2;162(1):146-59
- 245. Nagasaki T, Hara M, Nakanishi H, Takahashi H, Sato M, Takeyama H. Interleukin-6 released by colon cancer-associated fibroblasts is critical for tumour angiogenesis: anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody suppressed angiogenesis and inhibited tumour-stroma interaction. Br.J.Cancer 2014 Jan 21;110(2):469-78. PMCID:PMC3899773
- 246. Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. Nat.Med. 2015 Jul;21(7):677-87. PMCID:PMC4519035
- 247. Bauernfeind F, Niepmann S, Knolle PA, Hornung V. Aging-Associated TNF Production Primes Inflammasome Activation and NLRP3-Related Metabolic Disturbances. J.Immunol. 2016 Oct 1;197(7):2900-8

- 248. Dietlein F, Kalb B, Jokic M, Noll EM, Strong A, Tharun L, Ozretic L, Kunstlinger H, Kambartel K, Randerath WJ, et al. A Synergistic Interaction between Chk1- and MK2 Inhibitors in KRAS-Mutant Cancer. Cell 2015 Jul 2;162(1):146-59
- 249. Morandell S, Reinhardt HC, Cannell IG, Kim JS, Ruf DM, Mitra T, Couvillon AD, Jacks T, Yaffe MB. A reversible gene-targeting strategy identifies synthetic lethal interactions between MK2 and p53 in the DNA damage response in vivo. Cell Rep. 2013 Nov 27;5(4):868-77. PMCID:PMC3962842
- 250. Vyas D, Laput G, Vyas AK. Chemotherapy-enhanced inflammation may lead to the failure of therapy and metastasis. Onco.Targets.Ther. 2014;7:1015-23.
 PMCID:PMC4061164
- 251. Saha S, Mukherjee S, Khan P, Kajal K, Mazumdar M, Manna A, Mukherjee S, De S, Jana D, Sarkar DK, et al. Aspirin Suppresses the Acquisition of Chemoresistance in Breast Cancer by Disrupting an NFkappaB-IL6 Signaling Axis Responsible for the Generation of Cancer Stem Cells. Cancer Res. 2016 Apr 1;76(7):2000-12
- 252. Castells M, Thibault B, Delord JP, Couderc B. Implication of tumor microenvironment in chemoresistance: tumor-associated stromal cells protect tumor cells from cell death. Int.J.Mol.Sci. 2012;13(8):9545-71.
 PMCID:PMC3431813

- 253. Angst E, Reber HA, Hines OJ, Eibl G. Mononuclear cell-derived interleukin-1 beta confers chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer cells by upregulation of cyclooxygenase-2. Surgery 2008 Jul;144(1):57-65. PMCID:PMC2601479
- 254. Johansen C, Vestergaard C, Kragballe K, Kollias G, Gaestel M, Iversen L. MK2 regulates the early stages of skin tumor promotion. Carcinogenesis 2009 Dec;30(12):2100-8
- 255. Manke IA, Nguyen A, Lim D, Stewart MQ, Elia AE, Yaffe MB. MAPKAP kinase-2 is a cell cycle checkpoint kinase that regulates the G2/M transition and S phase progression in response to UV irradiation. Mol.Cell 2005 Jan 7;17(1):37-48
- 256. Tan Y, Rouse J, Zhang A, Cariati S, Cohen P, Comb MJ. FGF and stress regulate CREB and ATF-1 via a pathway involving p38 MAP kinase and MAPKAP kinase-2. EMBO J. 1996 Sep 2;15(17):4629-42. PMCID:PMC452194
- 257. Cheng TJ, Lai YK. Identification of mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase-2 as a vimentin kinase activated by okadaic acid in 9L rat brain tumor cells. J.Cell Biochem. 1998 Nov 1;71(2):169-81
- Singh KE, Taylor TH, Pan CG, Stamos MJ, Zell JA. Colorectal Cancer Incidence Among Young Adults in California. J.Adolesc.Young.Adult.Oncol. 2014 Dec 1;3(4):176-84. PMCID:PMC4270106
- 259. Jiang Z, Zhang L. Triptolide inhibits HuR-dependent TNF-a and IL-6 mRNA stabilization and protein expression in Raw264.7 cells (657.6). FASEB 28[1]. 2014.

- 260. Larsen M, Mose H, Gislum M, Skriver MV, Jepsen P, Norgard B, Sorensen HT. Survival after colorectal cancer in patients with Crohn's disease: A nationwide population-based Danish follow-up study. Am.J.Gastroenterol. 2007 Jan;102(1):163-7
- 261. Chung YC, Chang YF. Significance of inflammatory cytokines in the progression of colorectal cancer. Hepatogastroenterology 2003 Nov;50(54):1910-3
- 262. Chung YC, Chang YF. Serum interleukin-6 levels reflect the disease status of colorectal cancer. J.Surg.Oncol. 2003 Aug;83(4):222-6
- 263. Han J, Xi Q, Meng Q, Liu J, Zhang Y, Han Y, Zhuang Q, Jiang Y, Ding Q, Wu G.
 Interleukin-6 promotes tumor progression in colitis-associated colorectal cancer
 through HIF-1alpha regulation. Oncol.Lett. 2016 Dec;12(6):4665-70.
 PMCID:PMC5228480
- 264. Zins K, Abraham D, Sioud M, Aharinejad S. Colon cancer cell-derived tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates the tumor growth-promoting response in macrophages by up-regulating the colony-stimulating factor-1 pathway. Cancer Res. 2007 Feb 1;67(3):1038-45
- 265. Zarubin T, Han J. Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. Cell Res. 2005 Jan;15(1):11-8

- Yang SY, Miah A, Sales KM, Fuller B, Seifalian AM, Winslet M. Inhibition of the p38
 MAPK pathway sensitises human colon cancer cells to 5-fluorouracil treatment.
 Int.J Oncol 2011 Jun;38(6):1695-702
- 267. Johnson JA. Drug target pharmacogenomics: an overview. Am.JPharmacogenomics. 2001;1(4):271-81
- 268. Zer C, Sachs G, Shin JM. Identification of genomic targets downstream of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway mediating tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling. Physiol Genomics 2007 Oct 22;31(2):343-51. PMCID:PMC2880477
- 269. White A, Pargellis CA, Studts JM, Werneburg BG, Farmer BT. Molecular basis of MAPK-activated protein kinase 2:p38 assembly. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 2007 Apr 10;104(15):6353-8. PMCID:PMC1851067
- 270. Goel S, Wyrwicz L, Choi M, Coveler AL, Ucar A, Brown AW, Sarosiek T, Wong L,
 Stecher M, Fisher GA, et al. Phase III double-blinded, placebo-controlled study of
 MABp1 for improving survival in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol
 34[suppl 4S; abstr TPS784]. 2016.

Ref Type: Generic

271. Cao WG, Morin M, Metz C, Maheux R, Akoum A. Stimulation of macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in endometrial stromal cells by interleukin 1, beta involving the nuclear transcription factor NFkappaB. Biol.Reprod. 2005 Sep;73(3):565-70

- 272. Cao WG, Morin M, Sengers V, Metz C, Roger T, Maheux R, Akoum A. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha up-regulates macrophage migration inhibitory factor expression in endometrial stromal cells via the nuclear transcription factor NFkappaB. Hum.Reprod. 2006 Feb;21(2):421-8
- 273. Rider P, Carmi Y, Guttman O, Braiman A, Cohen I, Voronov E, White MR, Dinarello CA, Apte RN. IL-1alpha and IL-1beta recruit different myeloid cells and promote different stages of sterile inflammation. J Immunol. 2011 Nov 1;187(9):4835-43
- Zhang C, Li Y, Wu Y, Wang L, Wang X, Du J. Interleukin-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway is essential for macrophage infiltration and myoblast proliferation during muscle regeneration. J Biol.Chem. 2013 Jan 18;288(3):1489-99. PMCID:PMC3548462
- 275. Jersmann HP, Hii CS, Ferrante JV, Ferrante A. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide and tumor necrosis factor alpha synergistically increase expression of human endothelial adhesion molecules through activation of NF-kappaB and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. Infect.Immun. 2001 Mar;69(3):1273-9. PMCID:PMC98017
- 276. Hitti E, Iakovleva T, Brook M, Deppenmeier S, Gruber AD, Radzioch D, Clark AR, Blackshear PJ, Kotlyarov A, Gaestel M. Mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 regulates tumor necrosis factor mRNA stability and translation mainly by altering tristetraprolin expression, stability, and binding to

adenine/uridine-rich element. Mol.Cell Biol. 2006 Mar;26(6):2399-407. PMCID:PMC1430282

- 277. Lim MX, Png CW, Tay CY, Teo JD, Jiao H, Lehming N, Tan KS, Zhang Y. Differential regulation of proinflammatory cytokine expression by mitogen-activated protein kinases in macrophages in response to intestinal parasite infection. Infect.Immun. 2014 Nov;82(11):4789-801. PMCID:PMC4249314
- 278. Lalaoui N, Hanggi K, Brumatti G, Chau D, Nguyen NY, Vasilikos L, Spilgies LM, Heckmann DA, Ma C, Ghisi M, et al. Targeting p38 or MK2 Enhances the Anti-Leukemic Activity of Smac-Mimetics. Cancer Cell 2016 Feb 8;29(2):145-58
- 279. White A, Pargellis CA, Studts JM, Werneburg BG, Farmer BT. Molecular basis of MAPK-activated protein kinase 2:p38 assembly. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 2007 Apr 10;104(15):6353-8. PMCID:PMC1851067
- 280. King CA. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus kaposin B induces unique monophosphorylation of STAT3 at serine 727 and MK2-mediated inactivation of the STAT3 transcriptional repressor TRIM28. J Virol. 2013 Aug;87(15):8779-91. PMCID:PMC3719813
- 281. Tsuruma R, Ohbayashi N, Kamitani S, Ikeda O, Sato N, Muromoto R, Sekine Y, Oritani K, Matsuda T. Physical and functional interactions between STAT3 and KAP1. Oncogene 2008 May 8;27(21):3054-9

- 282. Gaba A, Grivennikov SI, Do MV, Stumpo DJ, Blackshear PJ, Karin M. Cutting edge: IL-10-mediated tristetraprolin induction is part of a feedback loop that controls macrophage STAT3 activation and cytokine production. J Immunol. 2012 Sep 1;189(5):2089-93. PMCID:PMC3424405
- 283. Samavati L, Rastogi R, Du W, Huttemann M, Fite A, Franchi L. STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation is critical for interleukin 1 beta and interleukin-6 production in response to lipopolysaccharide and live bacteria. Mol.Immunol. 2009 May;46(8-9):1867-77
- 284. Xiao W, Hodge DR, Wang L, Yang X, Zhang X, Farrar WL. NF-kappaB activates IL-6 expression through cooperation with c-Jun and IL6-AP1 site, but is independent of its IL6-NFkappaB regulatory site in autocrine human multiple myeloma cells. Cancer Biol.Ther. 2004 Oct;3(10):1007-17
- 285. Jia Q, Zhou HR, Shi Y, Pestka JJ. Docosahexaenoic acid consumption inhibits deoxynivalenol-induced CREB/ATF1 activation and IL-6 gene transcription in mouse macrophages. J Nutr. 2006 Feb;136(2):366-72
- 286. Gupta D, Wang Q, Vinson C, Dziarski R. Bacterial peptidoglycan induces CD14dependent activation of transcription factors CREB/ATF and AP-1. J Biol.Chem. 1999 May 14;274(20):14012-20
- 287. Nosho K, Baba Y, Tanaka N, Shima K, Hayashi M, Meyerhardt JA, Giovannucci E, Dranoff G, Fuchs CS, Ogino S. Tumour-infiltrating T-cell subsets, molecular

changes in colorectal cancer, and prognosis: cohort study and literature review. J Pathol. 2010 Dec;222(4):350-66. PMCID:PMC3033700

- 288. Maruyama T, Kono K, Mizukami Y, Kawaguchi Y, Mimura K, Watanabe M, Izawa S, Fujii H. Distribution of Th17 cells and FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells in tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes, tumor-draining lymph nodes and peripheral blood lymphocytes in patients with gastric cancer. Cancer Sci. 2010 Sep;101(9):1947-54
- 289. Zhang X, Kelaria S, Kerstetter J, Wang J. The functional and prognostic implications of regulatory T cells in colorectal carcinoma. J Gastrointest.Oncol 2015 Jun;6(3):307-13. PMCID:PMC4397244
- 290. Li X, Wang Y, Han C, Li P, Zhang H. Colorectal cancer progression is associated with accumulation of Th17 lymphocytes in tumor tissues and increased serum levels of interleukin-6. Tohoku J Exp.Med. 2014;233(3):175-82
- 291. DuPage M, Bluestone JA. Harnessing the plasticity of CD4(+) T cells to treat immune-mediated disease. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2016 Mar;16(3):149-63
- 292. Chung Y, Chang SH, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Nurieva R, Kang HS, Ma L, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Tian Q, et al. Critical regulation of early Th17 cell differentiation by interleukin-1 signaling. Immunity. 2009 Apr 17;30(4):576-87. PMCID:PMC2705871
- Zheng SG. Regulatory T cells vs Th17: differentiation of Th17 versus Treg, are the mutually exclusive? Am.J Clin Exp.Immunol. 2013;2(1):94-106.
 PMCID:PMC3714204

- 294. Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. The plasticity of human Treg and Th17 cells and its role in autoimmunity. Semin.Immunol. 2013 Nov 15;25(4):305-12.
 PMCID:PMC3905679
- 295. Frey DM, Droeser RA, Viehl CT, Zlobec I, Lugli A, Zingg U, Oertli D, Kettelhack C, Terracciano L, Tornillo L. High frequency of tumor-infiltrating FOXP3(+) regulatory
 T cells predicts improved survival in mismatch repair-proficient colorectal cancer patients. Int.J Cancer 2010 Jun 1;126(11):2635-43
- 296. Omenetti S, Pizarro TT. The Treg/Th17 Axis: A Dynamic Balance Regulated by the Gut Microbiome. Front Immunol. 2015;6:639. PMCID:PMC4681807
- 297. Tong Z, Yang XO, Yan H, Liu W, Niu X, Shi Y, Fang W, Xiong B, Wan Y, Dong C. A protective role by interleukin-17F in colon tumorigenesis. PLoS.One.
 2012;7(4):e34959. PMCID:PMC3324558
- 298. Wedebye Schmidt EG, Larsen HL, Kristensen NN, Poulsen SS, Lynge Pedersen AM, Claesson MH, Pedersen AE. TH17 cell induction and effects of IL-17A and IL-17F blockade in experimental colitis. Inflamm.Bowel.Dis. 2013 Jul;19(8):1567-76
- 299. Feng T, Qin H, Wang L, Benveniste EN, Elson CO, Cong Y. Th17 cells induce colitis and promote Th1 cell responses through IL-17 induction of innate IL-12 and IL-23 production. J Immunol. 2011 Jun 1;186(11):6313-8. PMCID:PMC3249225

- 300. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK. Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm.Bowel.Dis. 2006 May;12(5):382-8
- 301. Liu J, Duan Y, Cheng X, Chen X, Xie W, Long H, Lin Z, Zhu B. IL-17 is associated with poor prognosis and promotes angiogenesis via stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells in colorectal carcinoma. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2011 Apr 8;407(2):348-54
- 302. Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Fredriksen T, Mauger S, Bindea G, Berger A, Bruneval P, Fridman WH, Pages F, et al. Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, th2, treg, th17) in patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Res. 2011 Feb 15;71(4):1263-71
- 303. De S, V, Pallone F, Monteleone G, Stolfi C. Role of TH17 cytokines in the control of colorectal cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2013 Dec 1;2(12):e26617.
 PMCID:PMC3902118
- 304. Mao H, Pan F, Guo H, Bu F, Xin T, Chen S, Guo Y. Feedback mechanisms between
 M2 macrophages and Th17 cells in colorectal cancer patients. Tumour.Biol. 2016
 Sep;37(9):12223-30
- 305. Egwuagu CE. STAT3 in CD4+ T helper cell differentiation and inflammatory diseases. Cytokine 2009 Sep;47(3):149-56. PMCID:PMC2733795

- 306. Lemaire M, Froment C, Boutros R, Mondesert O, Nebreda AR, Monsarrat B, Ducommun B. CDC25B phosphorylation by p38 and MK-2. Cell Cycle 2006 Aug;5(15):1649-53
- 307. Huard S, Elder RT, Liang D, Li G, Zhao RY. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr induces cell cycle G2 arrest through Srk1/MK2-mediated phosphorylation of Cdc25. J Virol. 2008 Mar;82(6):2904-17. PMCID:PMC2259012
- 308. Donzelli M, Draetta GF. Regulating mammalian checkpoints through Cdc25 inactivation. EMBO Rep. 2003 Jul;4(7):671-7. PMCID:PMC1326326
- 309. Schmitt E, Boutros R, Froment C, Monsarrat B, Ducommun B, Dozier C. CHK1 phosphorylates CDC25B during the cell cycle in the absence of DNA damage. J Cell Sci. 2006 Oct 15;119(Pt 20):4269-75
- 310. Boutros R, Lobjois V, Ducommun B. CDC25 phosphatases in cancer cells: key players? Good targets? Nat.Rev.Cancer 2007 Jul;7(7):495-507
- 311. Abraham RT. MAPKAP kinase-2: three's company at the G(2) checkpoint. Mol.Cell2005 Jan 21;17(2):163-4
- 312. Reinhardt HC, Aslanian AS, Lees JA, Yaffe MB. p53-deficient cells rely on ATM- and ATR-mediated checkpoint signaling through the p38MAPK/MK2 pathway for survival after DNA damage. Cancer Cell 2007 Feb;11(2):175-89. PMCID:PMC2742175